

Fractional Fokker–Planck Equation with General Confinement Force

Laurent Lafleche

▶ To cite this version:

Laurent Lafleche. Fractional Fokker–Planck Equation with General Confinement Force. SIAM Journal on Mathematical Analysis, 2020, 52 (1), pp.164-196. 10.1137/18M1188331 . hal-01724754

HAL Id: hal-01724754 https://hal.science/hal-01724754

Submitted on 6 Mar 2018

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

FRACTIONAL FOKKER-PLANCK EQUATION WITH GENERAL CONFINEMENT FORCE

L. LAFLECHE

ABSTRACT. This article studies a Fokker-Planck type equation of fractional diffusion with conservative drift

$\partial_t f = \Delta^{\frac{\alpha}{2}} f + \operatorname{div}(Ef),$

where $\Delta^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ denotes the fractional Laplacian and E is a confining force field. The main interest of the present paper is that it applies to a wide variety of force fields, with a few local regularity and a polynomial growth at infinity.

We first prove the existence and uniqueness of a solution in weighted Lebesgue spaces depending on E under the form of a strongly continuous semigroup. We also prove the existence and uniqueness of a stationary state, by using an appropriate splitting of the fractional Laplacian and by proving a weak and strong maximum principle.

We then study the rate of convergence to equilibrium of the solution. The semigroup has a property of regularization in fractional Sobolev spaces, as well as a gain of integrability and positivity which we use to obtain polynomial or exponential convergence to equilibrium in weighted Lebesgue spaces.

Version of March 6, 2018

Mathematics Subject Classification (2000): 47D06 One-parameter semigroups and linear evolution equations [See also 34G10, 34K30], 35P15 Estimation of eigenvalues, upper and lower bounds [See also 35P05, 45C05, 47A10], 35B40 Partial differential equations, Asymptotic behavior of solutions [see also 45C05, 45K05, 35410],

Keywords: fractional diffusion with drift, fractional Laplacian, Fokker-Planck, confinement force, asymptotic behavior.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Presentation of the equation and preceding work	2
1.2. Main results	3
2. Main inequalities	6
2.1. Preliminary results about fractional Laplacian	6
2.2. Inequalities for the generator of the semigroup	9
3. Well-posedness	11
4. Additional properties for solutions to the equation	15
4.1. Gain of regularity and integrability	15
4.2. $L^1(m) \to L^{\infty}(m)$ Regularization when $\gamma \leq 2$	17
4.3. Gain of positivity	18
5. Existence and uniqueness of the steady state	22

5.1. Splitting of Λ as a bounded and a dissipative part	22
5.2. Existence of a unique steady state	23
6. Polynomial Convergence to the equilibrium for $\gamma \in (2 - \alpha, 2)$	24
6.1. Generalized relative entropy	24
6.2. Fractional Poincaré-Wirtinger inequality	25
6.3. Lyapunov + Poincaré method	26
7. Exponential Convergence to the equilibrium for $\gamma \geq 2$	28
References	29

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. **Presentation of the equation and preceding work.** We consider the homogeneous fractional Fokker-Planck Equation

(FFP)
$$\partial_t f = \Lambda f := I(f) + \operatorname{div}(Ef),$$

where E is a given force field with polynomial growth at infinity and

 $I = \Delta^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}$ with $\alpha \in (0, 2)$

is the fractional Laplacian. The fractional Laplacian is a generalization of the Laplacian that can be seen as the opposite of a fractional iteration of the positive operator $-\Delta$. It can be defined for any nice function f through its Fourier transform by

(1)
$$\widehat{I(f)} = -|2\pi\xi|^{\alpha}\widehat{f}.$$

Alternatively, it is also defined up to a constant depending on α and d for sufficiently smooth functions f by the following integral expression (see e.g. [25, Chapter 1, §1])

(2)
$$I(f) = \operatorname{vp} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{f(y) - f(x)}{|y - x|^{d + \alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}y,$$

where vp indicates that it is a principal value when $\alpha \geq 1$.

It can be seen as the infinitesimal generator of a Levy process. A probabilistic point of view about fractional diffusion can for example be found in [23]. The integral representation can be seen in the perspective of the dynamic associated with this Levy process as it represents the fact that particles will jump from x to y proportionally to the difference of value of f, from the high to the low densities, and proportionally to the inverse of a power of the distance. It highlights the non-local behavior of this operator.

It is in our case in competition with the force field E. For $\alpha < 1$, this force field will be stronger in small scales, resulting in possibly discontinuous solutions (see for example [42]). We restrict ourselves to a force field with at most polynomial growth at infinity.

We mention that another reason for the recent interest about the factional Laplacian is the fact that it can also be seen as a simplified version of the Boltzmann linearized operator, see for example [10], [35], [30], [29], [46], [8], [7], [21]. It was for example used extensively in [22] and in [40] to retrieve Harnack's inequalities and regularity for the Boltzmann equation without cutoff.

 $\mathbf{2}$

1.2. Main results. In all this paper, we will denote by $d \in \mathbb{N}^*$ the dimension of the space for the space variable, $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ will be an open subset, μ a measure (or its identification to a Lebesgue measurable function when it is absolutely continuous with respect to the Lebesgue measure) and m a nonnegative weight function which will often be of the form $\langle x \rangle^k$ for $k \in \mathbb{R}$ where $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1 + |x|^2}$. We will often denote by C constants whose exact value have no importance, or write for example C_a when we want to emphasize that the constant depends on a, but also use the following notations

$$a \lesssim b \stackrel{\text{def}}{\Leftrightarrow} \exists C > 0, a \leq Cb$$

 $a \simeq b \stackrel{\text{def}}{\Leftrightarrow} a \lesssim b \text{ and } b \lesssim a.$

Notice that f, g will usually denote functions of time and space while u, v will usually only depend on the space variable x. Moreover, $q = p' := \frac{p}{p-1}$ will denote the Hölder conjugate of p and $a \wedge b := \min(a, b)$.

We will mainly work in weighted Lebesgue spaces denoted by $L^p(m)$ for $p \in [1, \infty]$, associated to the norm

$$||u||_{L^p(m)} := ||um||_{L^p}.$$

We also recall the extension of Sobolev Spaces (see [6]) to fractional order of derivation, which can be defined through the following semi-norms, generalization of the Hölder property to the Lebesgue spaces for $s \in (0, 1)$

(3)
$$|u|_{W^{s,p}}^p := c_{s,d} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \frac{|u(y) - u(x)|^p}{|y - x|^{d + ps}} \, \mathrm{d}y \, \mathrm{d}x.$$

Those are Banach Spaces for the norm $||u||_{W^{s,p}}^p := |u|_{W^{s,p}}^p + ||u||_{L^p}^p$. When $s \in (1, 2)$, the norm becomes $||u||_{W^{s,p}}^p := ||\nabla u||_{W^{s-1,p}}^p + ||u||_{L^p}^p$. See for example [43],[44],[26] or [11] for a more complete study of these spaces.

We are interested here in a confining force field with polynomial growth taking the form

(4)
$$E = \langle x \rangle^{\gamma-2} x = \nabla \left(\frac{\langle x \rangle^{\gamma}}{\gamma} \right),$$

with $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$. To simplify the notations, we will sometimes use $\beta := \gamma - 2$. The case $E = x = \nabla V(x)$ with $V(x) = \frac{|x|^2}{2}$ is the most studied in the literature (see for example [3], [15], [16], [45]). In this case the steady state can be computed explicitly and the equation is equivalent up to a scaling to the fractional heat equation (see for example [4]). Since our method do not use the explicit formula for E, we will always assume the following more general hypotheses for a given $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$. **Hypotheses on** E:

(5)
$$|\nabla E| \lesssim \langle x \rangle^{\gamma-2}$$

(6)
$$E \cdot x \gtrsim \langle x \rangle^{\gamma-2} |x|^2.$$

Remark also that the kernel in the definition (2) of the fractional Laplacian, $\kappa_{\alpha} : z \mapsto \frac{c_{\alpha,d}}{|z|^{d+\alpha}}$, could be replaced by any symmetric kernel κ_{α} verifying

$$\kappa_{\alpha}(z) \simeq \frac{1}{|z|^{d+\alpha}}$$

Our first result is about existence and uniqueness of a solution.

Theorem 1. Let $m := \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k \in (0, \alpha \wedge 1)$. Then there exists $p_{\gamma} > 1$ such that for all $p \in [1, p_{\gamma})$, if $f^{\text{in}} \in L^p(m)$, there exists a unique solution

$$f \in C^0(\mathbb{R}_+, L^p(m))$$

to the (FFP) equation such that $f(0, \cdot) = f^{\text{in}}$. Moreover, Λ is the generator of a C^0 -semigroup in $L^p(m)$.

This result generalizes the results obtained by Wei and Tian in [48], where the existence was proved for divergence-bounded force fields. The a priori estimates on weighted spaces, from where come the relations between E and p, have been already used in the case of the classical Fokker-Planck equation (for example by Gualdani and al in [17]).

As it can be seen in the proof, to prove the existence of a solution, hypotheses (5) and (6) can be weakened to the existence of $k \in (0, \alpha \land 1)$ and p > 1 such that

(7)

$$E \in W_{loc}^{1,r} \cap L_{loc}^{\infty} \qquad \text{for a given } r > 2$$

$$E \cdot x \ge 0$$

$$\varphi_{m,p} := \frac{\operatorname{div}(E)}{q} - E \cdot \frac{\nabla m}{m} \le C.$$

In particular, it implies that we do not need to control $|\nabla E|$ but only div(E). Moreover, when $\gamma \leq 2$, (6) is unnecessary.

Remark that when (5) and (6) hold, then (7) holds for $\gamma \leq 2$ or p smaller than a given $p_{\gamma} \in (1, +\infty)$ which is such that

(8)
$$\forall p \in (1, p_{\gamma}), \varphi_{m,p} \leq b \mathbb{1}_{\Omega} - a \langle x \rangle^{\gamma - 2}$$

for a given $(a, b) \in \mathbb{R}^*_+ \times \mathbb{R}$ and a given bounded set Ω . This relation is similar to the Foster-Lyapunov condition for Harris recurrence (see [27], [2], [19] and [13]). When E takes the form (4), we can quantify explicitly the value of $p_{\gamma} = 1 + \frac{k}{d+\gamma-2-k}$.

Theorem 2. Let $m := \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k \in (0, \alpha \wedge 1)$ and $f \in L^1(m)$ be a solution to the (FFP) equation. Then there exists $p_{\gamma} > 1$ such that f is immediately in all $L^p(m)$ for $p < p_{\gamma}$ and, if $\gamma \leq 2$, $f \in L^{\infty}(m)$.

There has been some recent interest in the regularity theory for integro-differential equations. In [38], [39], [37], it is proved that under some regularity conditions on E and if $f \in L^{\infty}$ is the solution to (FFP), then f is actually Hölder continuous or even more differentiable. However, it is also proved in [41] that there can be some loss of regularity when E is not regular enough. As proved in [9] for divergence free drifts or in Proposition 4.1, we can still obtain fractional Besov or Sobolev regularity in these cases. Theorem 2 gives in particular the regularization from L^1 to L^{∞} in the case when $E \in C_b^1$, which then allows to use the theorems cited above.

Theorem 3. Assume $\gamma > 2 - \alpha$ and $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $0 \leq k < \alpha \wedge 1$. Then there exists $p^* > 1$ such that for any $p \in (1, p^*)$, there exists a unique $F \in L^p(m) \cap L^1_+$ of mass 1 such that

$$\Lambda F = 0.$$

This result generalizes the results obtained by Mischler and Mouhot in [31] and Kavian and Mischler in [24] where it is proved for the classical Laplacian and respectively $\gamma \geq 1$ and $\gamma \leq 1$. It is also close to the result obtained by Mischler

and Tristani in [33] where the fractional Laplacian is replaced by integral operators with integrable kernel.

The last and main result is the following rate of convergence towards equilibrium.

Theorem 4. Assume $\gamma > 2 - \alpha$ and let $m := \langle x \rangle^k$ with $0 \leq k < (\alpha \land 1)$. Then, if $\gamma \geq 2$, there exists a > 0 such that for any $p \in [1, p_{\gamma})$,

$$||f - F||_{L^p(m)} \lesssim e^{-at} ||f^{\text{in}} - F||_{L^p(m)}.$$

If $\gamma \in (2 - \alpha, 2)$, there exists $p^* > 1$ such that for any $p \in (1, p^*)$ and any $\bar{k} < k$, the following rate holds

$$||f - F||_{L^p(\bar{m})} \lesssim \langle t \rangle^{-\frac{k-\bar{k}}{2-\gamma}} ||f^{\text{in}} - F||_{L^p(m)}$$

where $\bar{m} = \langle x \rangle^{\bar{k}}$.

This result generalizes the one obtained by Wang in [47] where, following the techniques of [15], exponential convergence of the relative entropy is obtained for force fields $E \in C_b^1$ such that $\forall v \in \mathbb{R}^d, v \cdot \nabla E \cdot v \simeq |v|^2$ and the one obtained by Tristani in [45] where exponential convergence towards equilibrium is proved in $L^p(m)$ in the case E(x) = x. It is also the natural extension to the fractional case of the results obtained by Kavian and Mischler in [24] and Mouhot and Mischler in [31], which correspond respectively to the case $\gamma \in (0, 1)$ and $\gamma \geq 1$ for the classical Laplacian. The reason of the lower bound on $\gamma > 2 - \alpha$ is due to the strong nonlocal behavior of the fractional Laplacian which seems to compensate the confining effect of the force field.

The paper is organized as follows. The second section proves some properties of the fractional Laplacian and of the operator Λ which will be useful for the various results of the paper.

Section 3 proves the existence and uniqueness in the weighted $L^p(m)$ spaces for $p \in (1,2)$. We first create a solution for an approximated problem and then use a priori estimates and compactness properties to obtain a solution to the original problem.

Following the ideas of Nash in [36], section 4 of this article generalizes the regularization property of the semigroup associated to the (FFP) equation as established in [45]. Moreover, a gain of integrability as well as a gain of positivity are also proved, which are useful to deal with convergence without any L^{∞} bound.

In section 5, the existence of a stationary state is proved by using an adequate splitting of the operator. It follows the general idea of writing operators as a regularizing part and a dissipative part, as explained in [17]. We then prove a weak and strong maximum principle and deduce the uniqueness of the equilibrium from the Krein-Rutman Theorem.

The fifth section deals with polynomial convergence when E is not confining enough to create a spectral gap. It uses techniques inspired from [2] by using both Foster-Lyapunov estimates introduced by Meyn and Tweedie in [27] and a local Poincaré inequality. It proves the first part of Theorem 4.

Last section is devoted to the proof of the exponential convergence when E is strongly confining (i.e. $\gamma > 2$) and follows a different approach as it replaces the use of the Poincaré inequality by the gain of positivity property, following the work of Hairer and Mattingly in [18]. It proves the second part of Theorem 4.

L. LAFLECHE

Acknowledgments: I wish to acknowledge the help provided by my supervisor, Mr. Stephane Mischler. He gave me very useful advice and I used a lot his course on evolution PDEs [28]. I would also like to thank Ms. Isabelle Tristani and the members of the CEREMADE for their advice.

2. Main inequalities

2.1. Preliminary results about fractional Laplacian. We first recall the standard notations that we will use on this paper. We will denote by $\mathscr{B}(E, F)$ the space of continuous linear mappings from E to F, by $u_+ := \max(u, 0)$ the positive part of u. Moreover, we will identify bounded measures on measurable sets of \mathbb{R}^d with bounded radon measures $\mu \in \mathcal{M}(\Omega) := C_0(\Omega)'$ and write

$$\int f\mu := \int u(x)\mu(\,\mathrm{d}x), \qquad \qquad \mu(A) := \int_A \mu,$$

for any μ -measurable function u and μ -measurable set A. We will write the mass of a measure $\langle u \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d} := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u$. We also recall that $\mathcal{D}(\Omega) = C_c^{\infty}(\Omega)$ and $\mathcal{D}'(\Omega)$ is the space of distributions on Ω . Moreover, we will not write Ω when $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^d$.

Notice that in order to simplify the computations, we will use the following definition for the power of a vector, $x^a := |x|^{a-1}x$ for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$, and we will use a short notation to simplify the writing of the integrals,

$$\kappa_{\alpha,**} := \kappa_{\alpha}(x_* - x) \qquad \qquad u := u(x) \qquad \qquad u_* := u(x_*),$$

where x_* denote the first variable of integration. We can write for example

$$\iint F(u, u_*) = \iint F(u(x), u(x_*)) \, \mathrm{d}x_* \, \mathrm{d}x_*$$

With these notations and since $\alpha \in (0, 2)$, for sufficiently smooth and decaying functions u, we can write the fractional Laplacian as a principal value

$$I(u) = \operatorname{vp}\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \kappa_{\alpha,**}(u_* - u)\right) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} c_{\alpha,d} \int_{|x-y| > \varepsilon} \frac{u(y) - u(x)}{|y - x|^{d+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

Remark that the principal value can be removed when $\alpha \in (0, 1)$. An other useful expression is

(9)
$$I(u) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{u(y) - u(x) - (y - x)\nabla u(x)}{|z|^{d+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}z,$$

By duality, it can also be defined on more general spaces of tempered distributions with a growth smaller than $|x|^{\alpha}$ at infinity by the formula $\langle I(u), \varphi \rangle_{\mathcal{D}',\mathcal{D}} := \langle u, I(\varphi) \rangle_{I(\mathcal{D})',I(\mathcal{D})}$. In particular, we will mostly use the fractional Laplacian of weight functions of the form $m(x) = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k < \alpha$.

Following the model of the Laplacian, we define for p > 1

(10)
$$\Gamma(u,v) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\kappa_{\alpha,**}}{2} (u_* - u)(v_* - v)$$

(11)
$$\mathfrak{D}_p(u) := \Gamma(u, u^{p-1}) \ge 0.$$

The first quantity can be seen as a generalization of $\nabla u \cdot \nabla v$. It is known as the "Carré du Champs" operator in Probabilities. The second can be seen as a generalization of $|\nabla |u|^{p/2}|^2$.

The quantity (10) comes naturally when considering the fractional Laplacian of a product of (sufficiently smooth) functions, since the following formula holds

(12)
$$I(uv) = u I(v) + v I(u) + 2 \Gamma(u, v)$$

Moreover, we have the following integration by parts formula

(13)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} u I(v) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u)v = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma(u,v)$$

So that in particular, by definition (11)

(14)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u)u^{p-1} = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(u) \leq 0.$$

Remark that these relations also holds when replacing $\kappa_{\alpha}(x - x_*)$ by a general symmetric kernel $\kappa(x, x_*)$.

It will be useful to remark that the following quantities are equivalent.

Proposition 2.1. Let u be such that $\mathfrak{D}_p(u)$ is bounded for a given $p \in (1, \infty)$. Then

(15)
$$\mathfrak{D}_p(u) \simeq \frac{1}{p} I(|u|^p) - u^{p-1} I(u)$$

(16)
$$\simeq \frac{1}{q} I(|u|^p) - u I(u^{p-1})$$

(17)
$$\simeq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \kappa_{\alpha,**} |u_*^{p/2} - u^{p/2}|^2,$$

where we recall that q = p' and $a \simeq b$ means here that a/b is bounded by above and below by positive constants depending only on p.

Proof of Proposition 2.1. For the first line, we remark that

$$\mathfrak{D}_{p}(u) = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**}(u_{*}-u)(u_{*}^{p-1}-u^{p-1})$$
$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**} d_{1}(u_{*}/u)|u|^{p}$$
$$\frac{1}{p} I(|u|^{p}) - u^{p-1} I(u) = \frac{1}{p} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**}(|u_{*}|^{p} - |u|^{p} - pu^{p-1}(u_{*}-u))$$
$$= \frac{1}{p} \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**} d_{2}(u_{*}/u)|u|^{p},$$

where we recall that $u^p = |u|^{p-1}u$ and we defined for any $z \in \mathbb{R}$,

$$d_1(z) = (z-1)(z^{p-1}-1) \ge 0$$

$$d_2(z) = |z|^p - 1 - p(z-1) \ge 0$$

Then we remark that d_1/d_2 is a bounded positive function since it is continuous on $\mathbb{R}\setminus\{1\}$, converges to 1 when $|z| \to \infty$ and to 2/p when $z \to 1$. Therefore, $d_1 \simeq d_2$ and it implies (15). The other inequalities are treated in the same way.

Another useful result is the estimation of the growth of the fractional Laplacian of weight functions.

Proposition 2.2 (Fractional Derivation of weight functions). Let $k \in (0, \alpha \wedge 1)$ and $m : x \mapsto \langle x \rangle^k$ defined for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Then, the following inequality holds

(18)
$$|I(m)| \leq \frac{C}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha-k}},$$

where C is of the form $\frac{C_k \omega_d}{(\alpha - k)(2 - \alpha)}$. Moreover, when $\alpha < 1$

(19)
$$D^{\alpha}m \leq \frac{C_{\alpha,k}}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha-k}},$$

(20)
$$D^{\alpha} \left(m^{-1} \right) \leq \frac{C_{\alpha,|k|}}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha}},$$

where $C_{\alpha,k}$ is of the form $\frac{C_k \omega_d}{(\alpha-k)(1-\alpha)}$ and D^{α} is defined by

(21)
$$D^{\alpha}u := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \kappa_{\alpha,**} |u_* - u|$$

Proof of Proposition 2.2. We first look at the case $\alpha \in (0,1)$ and then at the case $\alpha \in (0,2)$ which works only for I(m).

Step 1. Case $\alpha \in (0,1)$. Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and R > 1. We split D^{α} into two parts

$$D^{\alpha}m \leq \int_{|x-y|>R} \frac{|m(x)-m(y)|}{|x-y|^{d+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}y + \int_{|x-y|\leq R} \frac{|m(x)-m(y)|}{|x-y|^{d+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}y =: \mathcal{I}_1 + \mathcal{I}_2.$$

For the first part, we remark that since $k \in (0,1)$ and $\forall y \in \mathbb{R}, |\nabla \langle y \rangle| \leq 1$, we obtain

$$|\langle x \rangle^k - \langle y \rangle^k| \le |\langle x \rangle - \langle y \rangle|^k \le |x - y|^k$$

It leads to

$$\mathcal{I}_1 \leq \int_{|z|>R} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{|z|^{d+\alpha-k}} \leq \frac{\omega_d}{(\alpha-k)R^{\alpha-k}}$$

• If $|x| \ge 1$, we take R := |x|/2. Then $|x|^{-1} \le \sqrt{2} \langle x \rangle^{-1}$, from what we deduce

$$\mathcal{I}_1 \leq \frac{C \,\omega_d}{(\alpha - k)} \frac{1}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha - k}}$$

Let $y \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be such that |x - y| < |x|/2. For $w \in [x, y] \subset \mathbb{R}^d$, we have $|w| \ge |x| - |x - w| \ge |x|/2$. Thus, we obtain

(22)

$$|m(x) - m(y)| \leq |x - y| \sup_{[x,y]} |\nabla m|$$

$$\leq |x - y| \sup_{w \in [x,y]} |k \langle w \rangle^{k-2} w|$$

$$\leq 2^{1-k} k \langle x \rangle^{k-1} |x - y|,$$

where we used $|x| \leq \langle x \rangle$ and $\langle x/2 \rangle \geq \langle x \rangle/2$. It implies the following upper bound

$$\mathcal{I}_2 \leq C \langle x \rangle^{k-1} \int_{|z| \leq |x|/2} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{|z|^{d+\alpha-1}} \leq \frac{C \,\omega_d}{1-\alpha} \langle x \rangle^{k-\alpha}.$$

• If $|x| \leq 1$, we take R := 1 and we deduce

$$\mathcal{I}_1 \leq \frac{\omega_d}{(\alpha - k)}$$

Moreover, as $k\langle x \rangle^{k-1} \leq 1$, (22) gives us

$$|m(x) - m(y)| \leq |x - y|.$$

Therefore

$$\mathcal{I}_2 \leq \int_{|z| \leq 1} \frac{\mathrm{d}z}{|z|^{d+\alpha-1}} \leq \frac{\omega_d}{1-\alpha}.$$

• We end the proof of (19) by gathering the two parts together. Since $m \ge 1$, we get (20) by remarking that

$$\mathbf{D}^{\alpha}(m^{-1}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \kappa_{\alpha,**} \left| \frac{m_* - m}{m_* m} \right| \leq \frac{\mathbf{D}^{\alpha} m}{m}$$

Step 2. Proof of (18). We use the integral representation (9) to change \mathcal{I}_2 by

$$\mathcal{I}_2 = \int_{|x-y| \le R} \frac{|m(x) - m(y) - (x-y) \cdot \nabla m(x)|}{|x-y|^{d+\alpha}} \,\mathrm{d}y.$$

Then (22) is replaced by a second order Taylor inequality, which gives

$$|m(x) - m(y) - (x - y) \cdot \nabla m(x)| \leq C_k \langle x \rangle^{k-2} |x - y|^2.$$

The other parts of the proof are similar to the step 1.

2.2. Inequalities for the generator of the semigroup. To get existence, uniqueness and additional gains of weight and regularity on the solutions to the (FFP) equation, the main inequalities are given in the following

Proposition 2.3. Let $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k \in (0,1)$ and $u \in L^p(m\langle x \rangle^{(\gamma-2)_+})$. If $k < \alpha < 1$, the following holds

(23)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Lambda(u) u^{p-1} m^p + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(um) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u|^p m^p \left(\frac{C_k}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha-k}} + \varphi_{m,p} \right),$$

where $\varphi_{m,p}$ is defined by (7) and $\mathfrak{D}_p \geq 0$ is defined by (11). If $kp < (\alpha \wedge 1)$, we also have

(24)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Lambda(u) u^{p-1} m^p + C_p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(um) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u|^p m^p \left(\frac{C_{k,p}}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha}} + \varphi_{m,p} \right).$$

Remarks: In particular, as already pointed out in introduction, $\varphi_{m,p}$ is always bounded above when $\gamma \leq 2$. When $\gamma > 2$, there exists $p_{\gamma} > 1$ such that $\varphi_{m,p}$ is bounded for any $p \in (1, p_{\gamma})$. Moreover, in this case, there exists $(a, b) \in \mathbb{R}^{*}_{+} \times \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\varphi_{m,p} \le b - a \langle x \rangle^{\gamma - 2}.$$

Inequality (24) is more restrictive on k since it needs $k < \alpha/p$, but it has the advantage to work for all $\alpha \in (0, 2)$ and to give a second term with a smaller weight.

Lemma 2.1. Let $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $|k| < \alpha \le 1$ and $u \in L^p(m \langle x \rangle^{(k-\alpha)/p})$. Then the following inequality holds true

(25)
$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (I(mu) - m I(u))(um)^{p-1} \right| \leq C_k \|u\|_{L^p(m\langle x \rangle^{(k-\alpha)/p})}^p$$

Proof of Lemma 2.1. Using the integral definition (2) of I, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} j_m(u)v = \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**} \left((u_*m_* - um) - u(m_* - m) \right) v$$
$$= \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**} \frac{m_* - m}{m_*} (u_*m_*) v.$$

Thus, by Hölder's inequality, we get

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} j_m(u)v \right| \leq \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**} \frac{|m_* - m|}{m_*} |u_*m_*|^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**} \frac{|m_* - m|}{m_*} |v|^q \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$

By the fact that $\frac{|m_*-m|}{m_*} = \frac{|m_*^{-1}-m^{-1}|}{m^{-1}}$ and exchanging x and x_* in the first integral, we obtain

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} j_m(u)v \right| \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\mathrm{D}^{\alpha}m}{m} |um|^p \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{\mathrm{D}^{\alpha}(m^{-1})}{m^{-1}} |v|^q \right)^{\frac{1}{q}}.$$

where D^{α} is defined by (21). In particular, if $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $|k| < \alpha$, we obtain from Proposition 2.2

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} j_m(u) v \right| \leq C_k \left\| u \right\|_{L^p(m\langle x \rangle^{-\alpha/p})} \left\| v \right\|_{L^q(\langle x \rangle^{(k-\alpha)/q})},$$

which implies (25) by taking $v = (um)^{p-1}$.

Proof of Proposition 2.3. Let $\Phi = \frac{|\cdot|^p}{p}$ and $u \in C_c^{\infty}$. Then, by definition

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Lambda(u) \Phi'(u) m^p = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u) \Phi'(u) m^p + \operatorname{div}(Eu) \Phi'(u) m^p,$$

Let first focus on the term containing the force field E. We expand the divergence of the product, use the fact that $\Phi'(u)\nabla u = \nabla \Phi(u)$ and integrate by parts the second term to find

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{div}(Eu) \Phi'(u) m^p = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{div}(E) (u \Phi'(u) - \Phi(u)) m^p - \Phi(u) E \cdot \nabla m^p.$$

By definition of Φ , we obtain

(26)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \operatorname{div}(Eu) u^{p-1} m^p = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u|^p m^p \varphi_{m,p},$$

where $\varphi_{m,p}$ is given by (7). Let now look at the term containing *I*. By using (14), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u)u^{p-1}m^p = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(um) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (I(mu) - m I(u))(um)^{p-1}$$

By (25), when $|k| < \alpha \leq 1$, we deduce the following inequality for I

(27)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u)u^{p-1}m^p \leq -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(um) + C_k \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u|^p m^p \langle x \rangle^{k-\alpha}.$$

For $\alpha \in (0, 2)$, when $kp \in (0, \alpha \wedge 1)$, we recall that by relation (15),

$$\mathfrak{D}_p(u) \simeq \frac{1}{p} I(|u|^p) - I(u)u^{p-1}.$$

Hence, using the fractional integration by parts formula (13), we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u)u^{p-1}m^p = -C_p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(u)m^p + \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u|^p I(m^p).$$

By formula (18), it leads to

(28)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u)u^{p-1}m^p + C_p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(u)m^p \leq C_k \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u|^p m^p \langle x \rangle^{-\alpha}.$$

Now we remark that, by relation (17)

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(um) &\simeq \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} |(um)_*^{p/2} - (um)^{p/2}|^2 \\ &\leq 2 \iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} |u_*^{p/2} - u^{p/2}|^2 m_*^p + |m_*^{p/2} - m^{p/2}|^2 |u|^p \\ &\lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(u) m^p + \mathfrak{D}_p(m) |u|^p. \end{split}$$

Moreover, since $\mathfrak{D}_p(m) \simeq \Gamma(m^{p/2}, m^{p/2})$, by the bound (13), we obtain

$$2\mathfrak{D}_p(m) \lesssim I(m^p) + m^{p/2} \left| I(m^{p/2}) \right| \lesssim \frac{m^p}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha}},$$

where we used (18) since $kp < \alpha$. Therefore, inequality (28) becomes

(29)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u)u^{p-1}m^p + C_p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(um) \leq C_{k,p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u|^p m^p \langle x \rangle^{-\alpha}$$

We conclude that (23) and (24) hold by combining the inequality for the part with E, equation (26) with the inequalities for the parts with I, (27) and (29). All these manipulation can be justified by taking $u_n = \chi_n(\rho_n * u) \to u$ where $\chi_n \in C_c^{\infty}$ is a cutoff function and $\rho_n \in C_c^{\infty}$ an approximation of δ_0 . The main technical point is to obtain an estimate on the following commutator

$$r_n(u) := (E \cdot \nabla u) * \rho_n - E \cdot \nabla (u * \rho_n).$$

In the spirit of DiPerna-Lions commutator estimate (see [12]) and Lemma 2.1, we obtain

$$r_n(u) \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} 0 \text{ in } L^p(m\langle x \rangle^{-(\gamma-2)_+/p}),$$

which ends the proof.

3. Well-posedness

This section is devoted to the proof of the part of Theorem 1 concerning existence and uniqueness of a continuous semigroup. In order to prove the existence of a solution to the (FFP) equation, we use a viscosity approximation of the equation and a truncation of E and I. We first prove the existence for the approximated problem in $L^2(M)$. We can identify the dual of $V := H^1(M) = \{u \in L^2(M), \nabla u \in L^2(M)\}$ to $H^{-1}(M)$ by defining $\langle f, g \rangle_{V',V} = \langle fM, gM \rangle_{H^{-1},H^1} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} fgM^2$. Moreover, $L^2(M)$ is a Hilbert space for the scalar product $\langle f, g \rangle_{L^2(M)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} fgM^2$. Remark that in the case $\alpha > 1$, proving the existence is simpler as the divergence operator is bounded in H^{α} , so that we do not need to use a viscosity approximation.

Lemma 3.1 (Viscosity Approximation). Let $M := \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k \in \mathbb{R}$ and for $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ define $\kappa_{\alpha}^{\varepsilon}(x) := \kappa_{\alpha}(x) \mathbb{1}_{\{\varepsilon < |x| < 1/\varepsilon\}}$ and $I_{\varepsilon}(u) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \kappa_{\alpha,**}^{\varepsilon}(u_* - u)$. Then, there exists a unique solution in

$$C^{0}([0,T], L^{2}(M)) \cap L^{2}((0,T), H^{1}(M)) \cap H^{1}((0,T), H^{-1}(M)),$$

to the problem

(30)
$$\partial_t f = \Lambda_{\varepsilon} f = \varepsilon \Delta f + I_{\varepsilon}(f) + \operatorname{div}(E_{\varepsilon} f),$$

with $f(0, \cdot) = f^{\text{in}} \in L^2(M), E_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}$ and

$$\left(\operatorname{div}(E_{\varepsilon}) - E_{\varepsilon} \cdot \frac{\nabla M^2}{M^2}\right)_+ \in L^{\infty}.$$

Proof of Lemma 3.1. The result is an application of J.L.Lions Theorem (see for example [5, Théorème X.9]). We thus prove that the hypotheses of this theorem hold.

Step 1. Continuity of Λ_{ε} . Let $(f,g) \in H^1(M)^2$. Then

$$\begin{split} \langle \Lambda_{\varepsilon}f,g \rangle_{V',V} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} -\varepsilon \nabla f \cdot \nabla (gM^2) + I_{\varepsilon}(f)gM^2 + \operatorname{div}(E_{\varepsilon}f)gM^2 \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(-\varepsilon \nabla f \cdot \nabla g - \varepsilon g \nabla f \cdot \frac{\nabla M^2}{M^2} + I_{\varepsilon}(f)g - E_{\varepsilon}f\left(\nabla g + g\frac{\nabla M^2}{M^2}\right) \right) M^2. \end{split}$$

Since $\kappa_{\alpha}^{\varepsilon} \in L^1$, we can write $I_{\varepsilon}(f) = \kappa_{\alpha}^{\varepsilon} * f - K_{\varepsilon}f$ where $K_{\varepsilon} = \|\kappa_{\alpha}^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^1}$. Using Peetre's inequality which tells that

$$\langle x+y\rangle \leq \sqrt{2}\langle x\rangle\langle y\rangle,$$

and the fact that $\kappa^{\varepsilon}_{\alpha}$ is compactly supported, we get after a short computation

(31)
$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I_{\varepsilon}(f) g M^2 \right| \leq C_{\varepsilon} K_{\varepsilon} \|f\|_{L^2(M)} \|g\|_{L^2(M)}.$$

Thus, using the Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, there exists $C_{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$|\langle \Lambda_{\varepsilon}f,g\rangle_{V',V}| \leq (C_k(\varepsilon+\|E_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}})+C_{\varepsilon}K_{\varepsilon})\|f\|_{H^1(M)}\|g\|_{H^1(M)},$$

where we used $|\nabla M^2| \leq 2|k|M^2$. It proves that $\Lambda_{\varepsilon} \in \mathscr{B}(V, V')$. Step 2. For $f \in H^1(M)$, using (31) and the a priori estimate (26), we get

$$\begin{split} \langle \Lambda_{\varepsilon} f, f \rangle_{V',V} &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left(I_{\varepsilon}(f) f - \varepsilon |\nabla f|^2 + f^2 \left(\operatorname{div}(E_{\varepsilon}) - E_{\varepsilon} \cdot \frac{\nabla M^2}{M^2} - \varepsilon \frac{\Delta M^2}{2M^2} \right) \right) M^2 \\ &\leq -\varepsilon \|f\|_{H^1(M)}^2 + C_{k,\varepsilon,E_{\varepsilon},\kappa_{\alpha}^{\varepsilon}} \|f\|_{L^2(M)}^2, \end{split}$$

where we used $|\nabla M^2| \leq 2|k|M^2$ and $|\Delta M^2| \leq 6|k|M^2$. Therefore, we can apply J.L.Lions Theorem.

To get results in the good spaces, we will use the following injection that is a straightforward application of Hölder's inequality and the density of C_c^{∞} in L^p .

Lemma 3.2. Let $(p,q) \in [1,+\infty]^2$ and $(l,k) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ such that $p \leq q$ and $(l-k) > d\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)$. Let $M = \langle x \rangle^l$ and $m = \langle x \rangle^k$, then

$$L^q(M) \hookrightarrow L^p(m),$$

with dense and continuous embedding. In particular, if $l > k + \frac{d}{2}$ and $p \in [1, 2]$, we have the following embedding $L^2(M) \hookrightarrow L^p(m)$.

We now can prove the existence of a weak solution by letting $\varepsilon \to 0$.

Lemma 3.3. Let $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k \in (0, \alpha \wedge 1)$ and $p \in (1, p_{\gamma})$ as defined by (8) (or p > 1 if $\gamma \leq 2$). Then there exists a unique weak solution $f \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+, L^p(m))$ to the (FFP) equation.

Proof of Lemma 3.3. We prove first existence of a solution in $L^p(m)$ by using the approximation in $L^2(M)$ and then we use it to prove existence in $L^1(m)$.

Step 1. Existence in $L^p(m)$ for p > 1. Assume that $f^{\text{in}} \in L^p(m)$ for $p \in (1, 2]$. Then, by Lemma 3.2, there exists a family of functions $f_{\varepsilon}^{\text{in}} \in L^2(M)$ such that

$$f_{\varepsilon}^{\operatorname{in}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{}^{L^{p}(m)} f^{\operatorname{in}}.$$

For a fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, let $\chi_{\varepsilon} \in C_c^{\infty}$ be a radial function such that $\chi_{\varepsilon}(x) = \tilde{\chi}_{\varepsilon}(|x|)$ where $\tilde{\chi}_{\varepsilon}$ is a decreasing function and $\mathbb{1}_{\mathring{B}(0,1/\varepsilon)} \leq \chi_{\varepsilon} \leq \mathbb{1}_{\mathring{B}(0,2/\varepsilon)}$. Let $f_{\varepsilon} \in C([0,T], L^2(M))$ be a solution of $\partial_t f_{\varepsilon} = \Lambda_{\varepsilon} f_{\varepsilon}$ as given by Lemma 3.1, with $E_{\varepsilon} = E\chi_{\varepsilon}$. For such a E_{ε} , we have indeed div $(E_{\varepsilon}) - E_{\varepsilon} \cdot \frac{\nabla M^2}{M^2}$ bounded above because of the fact that $E \in L_{\text{loc}}^{\infty}$ and div $(E)_+ \in L_{\text{loc}}^{\infty}$.

Let $\rho \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1}, \mathbb{R}_+)$ be such that $\int \rho = 1$ and $\operatorname{supp}(\rho) \subset (-1, 0) \times \mathring{B}(0, 1)$ so that $\rho_n(t, x) := n^{d+1}\rho(nt, n^d x)$ is an approximation of identity. The fractional Laplacian commutes with the convolution by smooth functions (which is an immediate property by using its Fourier definition (1)), thus the regularized function defined by $f_{\varepsilon,n} := f_{\varepsilon} * \rho_n \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^d) \cap L^2(M)$ verifies in the classical sense the equation

$$\partial_t f_{\varepsilon,n} = \Lambda_\varepsilon f_{\varepsilon,n} + r_n,$$

where

$$r_n = (E_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla f_{\varepsilon}) * \rho_n - E_{\varepsilon} \cdot \nabla f_{\varepsilon,n}$$

As proved in [12, Lemma II.1], since $E_{\varepsilon} \in L^1((0,T), W_{\text{loc}}^{1,r})$ for r > 1 such that $\frac{1}{p} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{r}$ and $f_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}((0,T), L^2_{\text{loc}})$, it holds

$$r_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0$$
 in $L^1((0,T), L^p_{\text{loc}})$

Moreover the convergence also holds in $L^1((0,T), L^p(m))$ because E_{ε} is compactly supported. Using inequality (23) or (24) for $I = I_{\varepsilon}$ and the fact that $\varphi_{m,p}$ is bounded from above, we obtain

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|f_{\varepsilon,n}|^p}{p} m^p \right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f_{\varepsilon,n}|^p m^p \left(C_k + \frac{\operatorname{div}(E_{\varepsilon})}{q} - k \frac{E_{\varepsilon} \cdot x}{\langle x \rangle^2} \right) + |f_{\varepsilon,n}|^{p-1} |r_n| m^p.$$

For the part containing E_{ε} , we have

$$\frac{\operatorname{div}(E_{\varepsilon})}{q} - k \frac{E_{\varepsilon} \cdot x}{\langle x \rangle^2} = \left(\frac{\operatorname{div}(E)}{q} - k \frac{E \cdot x}{\langle x \rangle^2} \right) \chi_{\varepsilon} + \frac{E \cdot \nabla(\chi_{\varepsilon})}{q}.$$

By hypothesis, the first term is bounded above and the second term is negative since

(32)
$$E \cdot \nabla(\chi_{\varepsilon}) = E \cdot \frac{x}{|x|} \tilde{\chi}'(|x|) \leq 0.$$

Using Hölder's inequality to control the error term, we obtain

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \frac{|f_{\varepsilon,n}|^p}{p} m^p \right) \leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f_{\varepsilon,n}|^p m^p + \|r_n\|_{L^p(m)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f_{\varepsilon,n}|^p m^p \right)^{1/p'} \\ \leq \left(C + \|r_n\|_{L^p(m)} \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f_{\varepsilon,n}|^p m^p + \|r_n\|_{L^p(m)},$$

where we used the fact that for $\forall x \ge 0$, $x^{1/p'} \le 1 + x$ since $p' \in [2, \infty)$. Grönwall's inequality gives

$$\|f_{\varepsilon,n}\|_{L^{p}(m)}^{p} \leq e^{CT+p\|r_{n}\|_{L^{1}((0,T),L^{p}(m))}} \left(\|f_{\varepsilon,n}^{\mathrm{in}}\|_{L^{p}(m)}^{p} + p\|r_{n}\|_{L^{1}((0,T),L^{p}(m))}\right)$$

L. LAFLECHE

Passing to the limit in n, as $f_{\varepsilon,n} \to f_{\varepsilon}$ in $L^p(m)$, the error term cancels, hence

$$\|f_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{p}(m)}^{p} \leq e^{CT} \|f_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{in}}\|_{L^{p}(m)}^{p}$$

Thus, up to a subsequence, it converges in $\mathcal{D}'([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ to $f \in L^{\infty}([0,T], L^p(m))$. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. Then $\kappa_{\alpha,**}^{\varepsilon} | \varphi_* - \varphi | \leq \kappa_{\alpha,**} | \varphi_* - \varphi |$ which is integrable, thus $I_{\varepsilon}(\varphi)$ converges to $I(\varphi)$ by the Lebesgue dominated convergence Theorem. Therefore, we have

$$\langle f_{\varepsilon}, I_{\varepsilon}(\varphi) \rangle_{\mathcal{D}', \mathcal{D}} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \langle f, I(\varphi) \rangle.$$

It implies that $I_{\varepsilon}(f_{\varepsilon}) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} I(f)$ in $\mathcal{D}'([0,T] \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. We can also easily check that $\operatorname{div}(E_{\varepsilon}f_{\varepsilon}) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \operatorname{div}(Ef)$ and $(\partial_t - \varepsilon \Delta)f_{\varepsilon} \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0]{} \partial_t f$ in $\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^d)$. Therefore, we obtain the existence of $f \in L^{\infty}([0,T], L^p(m))$ verifying the (FFP) equation. Uniqueness follows directly by remarking that $f^{\operatorname{in}} = 0 \implies f = 0$.

Step 2. Existence in $L^1(m)$. Consider now the case where $f^{\text{in}} \in L^1(m)$. As $k < \alpha$, by Lemma 3.2 we can find $k < l < \alpha$ and $p \in (1,2)$ such that with $M = \langle x \rangle^l$, we have $L^p(M) \hookrightarrow L^1(m)$. Let $f_n^{\text{in}} \xrightarrow{n \to \infty} f^{\text{in}}$ in $L^1(m)$ and f_n be the corresponding solution of the (FFP) given by the existence in the L^p case. Then, the same proof, but with the $L^1(m)$ estimates, gives

(33)
$$\|f_{n_1} - f_{n_2}\|_{L^1(m)} \leq e^{(C_0 + C)T} \|f_{n_1}^{\text{in}} - f_{n_2}^{\text{in}}\|_{L^1(m)} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 0.$$

Therefore, f_n is a Cauchy sequence and we can again verify that it converges to a solution in $L^{\infty}((0,T), L^1(m))$ of the equation.

Lemma 3.4. Let $E \in L^{\infty}_{loc}$, $m \in L^{0}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^{*}_{+})$ and $f \in L^{\infty}((0, T), L^{p}(m))$ for $p \in (1, +\infty)$ be a weak solution of the (FFP) equation. Then we have the following continuity in time

$$f \in C^{0}([0,T], w - L^{p}(m))$$

where $w - L^{p}(m)$ indicates that we take the weak topology on $L^{p}(m)$.

Proof of Lemma 3.4. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^d)$. As f is solution of (FFP) in $\mathcal{D}'((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^d)$, taking $\psi \otimes \varphi \in \mathcal{D}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^d)$ as test function, we can write

$$-\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t,x) \partial_t \psi(t) \varphi(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t = \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t,x) \psi(t) (I(\varphi) - E \cdot \nabla \varphi)(x) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}t,$$

or equivalently

$$\partial_t u_{\varphi} = v_{\varphi} \text{ in } \mathcal{D}'(0,T),$$

with

$$u_{\varphi}: t \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t, \cdot) \varphi$$
 and $v_{\varphi}: t \mapsto \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t, \cdot) (I(\varphi) - E \cdot \nabla \varphi).$

For $\varphi \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and $E \in L^{\infty}_{\text{loc}}$, we have $I(\varphi) - E \cdot \nabla \varphi \in L^{\infty}(\langle x \rangle^{d+\alpha})$. Thus, as by Lemma 3.2, $f \in L^{\infty}((0,T), L^p(m)) \subset L^{\infty}((0,T), L^1(\langle x \rangle^{-(d+\alpha)}))$, we obtain that $u_{\varphi} \in L^{\infty}(0,T)$ and $v_{\varphi} \in L^{\infty}(0,T)$. Hence, $u_{\varphi} \in W^{1,\infty}(0,T) \subset C^0([0,T])$.

Let $p \neq 1$. We now show that the result is still true by replacing φ by $g \in L^{p'}(m^{-1})$. First, we remark that u_g is well defined in $L^{\infty}(0,T)$. Then, by the density of $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ in $L^{p'}$, there exists a sequence $(\tilde{\varphi}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^d)^{\mathbb{N}}$ such that

 $\tilde{\varphi}_n \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} gm^{-1}$ in $L^{p'}$, or equivalently, there exists $\varphi_n := m\tilde{\varphi}_n \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ such that $\varphi_n \xrightarrow[n \to +\infty]{} g$ in $L^{p'}(m^{-1})$. We now look at the sequence of u_{φ_n} and write

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_{\varphi_n} - u_g\|_{C^0([0,T])} &= \left\| \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t, \cdot)(\varphi_n - g) \right\|_{L^{\infty}(0,T)} \\ &\leq \|f\|_{L^{\infty}((0,T), L^p(m))} \|\varphi_n - g\|_{L^{p'}(m^{-1})} \underset{n \to +\infty}{\longrightarrow} 0. \end{aligned}$$

It proves that $u_g \in C^0(0,T)$.

We can now combine the previous lemmas to give the proof of Theorem 1.

Proof of Theorem 1. Since the time continuity in the weak topology $\sigma(X, X')$ implies the continuity in the strong X topology (see e.g. [14]), combining Lemmas 3.3 and Lemma 3.4 gives the result in the case p > 1. If p = 1, we prove the time continuity differently. Using again an $L^p(M)$ approximation sequence f_n , we obtain from equation (33) that it is a Cauchy sequence in $C^0([0, T], L^1(m))$, since

$$\begin{split} \|f_{n_1} - f_{n_2}\|_{C^0([0,T],L^1(m))} &= \sup_{t \in (0,T)} \|f_{n_1} - f_{n_2}\|_{L^1(m)} \\ &\leq e^{(C_0 + C)T} \|f_{n_1}^{\text{in}} - f_{n_2}^{\text{in}}\|_{L^1(m)} \underset{n \to \infty}{\longrightarrow} 0, \end{split}$$

from what we conclude that $f \in C^0([0, T], L^1(m))$.

4. Additional properties for solutions to the equation

In this section, we prove that the semigroup associated to the (FFP) equation actually gives gains of regularity, integrability, weight and positivity, which is useful to retrieve quantitative estimates about the regularity of solutions, to prove uniform in time estimates in weighted Lebesgues spaces and existence and uniqueness of the steady state, as well as quantitative rate of decay towards equilibrium.

4.1. Gain of regularity and integrability.

Proposition 4.1. Let $f \in L^1(m)$ be a solution of the (FFP) equation as given in Theorem 1 for $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k \in (0, \alpha \wedge 1)$. Then there exists c > 0 such that the following inequality holds

(34)
$$||f||_{L^{p}(m)} \lesssim \left(c + \frac{d(p-1)}{\alpha t}\right)^{\frac{d}{q\alpha}} e^{t\lambda_{1}} ||f^{\mathrm{in}}||_{L^{1}(m)}$$

where λ_1 is the growth bound of $e^{t\Lambda}$ in $L^1(m)$, $q' = p \in [1, p_{\gamma})$ and if $\alpha \geq 1$, $p < \alpha/k$. Moreover, if $f^{\text{in}} \in L^p(m)$, we obtain the following Sobolev regularity

(35)
$$(fm)^{p/2} \in L^2((0,T), H^{\alpha/2})$$

Remarks: Formula (34) can also be written in other words

(36)
$$\|e^{t\Lambda}\|_{L^1(m)\to L^p(m)} \lesssim \left(c+t^{\frac{-d}{\alpha q}}\right)e^{t\lambda_1}$$

In order to show regularizing properties of the (FFP) equation, one possibility is to use a fractional variant of the Nash inequality in $L^p(m)$ spaces. In the case of L^2 spaces, it is proved for example in [45, Lemma 5.2].

Lemma 4.1 (Fractional Nash inequality in $L^p(m)$). Let $p \in [1,2]$ and $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $kp \in (0, \alpha \land 1)$ or $0 < k < \alpha < 1$. Then for any $u \in L^p(m)$, we have

(37)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(u) u^{p-1} m^p \lesssim C_{k,p} \left\| u \right\|_{L^p(m)}^p - \left| (um)^{\frac{p}{2}} \right|_{H^{\alpha/2}}^2$$

(38)
$$\lesssim C_{k,p} \|u\|_{L^{p}(m)}^{p} - \|u\|_{L^{p}(m)}^{p+\frac{1}{d}} \|u\|_{L^{1}(m)}^{\frac{1}{d}}.$$

Proof of Lemma 4.1. By the definition of the Sobolev seminorm (3) and the relation (17), we remark that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(v) \simeq |v^{\frac{p}{2}}|_{H^{\alpha/2}}.$$

Therefore, (37) is a consequence of inequalities (27) or (29). By using the following Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequalities (see for example [26])

$$\left\| (um)^{p/2} \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left\| (um)^{p/2} \right\|_{H^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}^{\theta} \left\| (um)^{p/2} \right\|_{L^{2/p}}^{1-\theta}$$

with $\theta = \frac{p}{p+q\alpha/d}$, which can also be written

$$||u||_{L^p(m)}^{p/\theta} \lesssim |(um)^{p/2}|_{H^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}}^2 ||u||_{L^1(m)}^{p(1/\theta-1)},$$

we deduce (38) from (37).

Nash type inequalities let appear the following family of ordinary differential inequalities that can be solved explicitly and lead to the growth in time given by the following application of Gronwall's inequality.

Lemma 4.2. Let $(A, B, C, b) \in \mathbb{R}^4$ and $y \in L^1_+(0, T)$ verifying in the weak sense $\partial_t X \leq BX - Ae^{-bCt}X^{1+C}$. Then, the following upper bound holds

$$X \le \frac{e^{-bt}}{A^{1/C}} \left((B-b) + \frac{1}{Ct} \right)^{1/C}$$

We can now combine Lemma 4.2 with previous Nash type inequalities (37) and (38) to prove Proposition 4.1.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. Let $X = X(t) := ||f||_{L^p(m)}^p$, $Y := ||f||_{L^1(m)}^p$ and $\theta := \frac{\alpha}{d(p-1)} > 0$. The second fractional Nash inequality (38) can be written

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(f) f^{p-1} m^p \leq \bar{C} X - \tilde{C} Y^{-\theta} X^{1+\theta}.$$

Thus, using the inequality (26) for the $\operatorname{div}(E \cdot)$ part of the operator Λ , we obtain

$$\partial_t X = p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(f) f^{q-1} m^p + p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f^p m^p \varphi_{m,p}$$

$$\leq (p\bar{C} + C) X - p \tilde{C} Y^{-\theta} X^{1+\theta}.$$

Using the fact that $Y \leq e^{q\lambda_1 t} Y(0)$ and Lemma 4.2, we obtain

$$X(t) \leq e^{q\lambda_1 t} \left(\frac{1}{p\tilde{C}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\theta}} \left(c_p + \frac{1}{\theta t}\right)^{\frac{1}{\theta}} Y(0),$$

with $c_p = p\bar{C} + C - q\lambda_1$. It proves (34). Let now $Z := |(fm)^{p/2}|_{H^{\alpha/2}}$ and assume X(0) is bounded. Then by Theorem 1, we know that $X \leq e^{tp\lambda_p}X(0)$ for a given $\lambda_p \in \mathbb{R}$. Using now the first fractional Nash inequality (37), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(f) f^{p-1} m^p \leq \bar{C} X - Z^q.$$

It gives us, by integrating the a priori estimates with respect to time

$$\int_0^T Z^q \le X(0) - X(T) + (p\bar{C} + C) \int_0^T X.$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{T} \|(fm)^{p/2}\|_{H^{\alpha/2}}^{q} \leq X(0) \left(1 + (p\bar{C} + C + 1)p\lambda_{p}e^{Tp\lambda_{p}}\right),$$
(35).

which gives (35).

4.2. $L^1(m) \to L^{\infty}(m)$ Regularization when $\gamma \leq 2$. When $\gamma \leq 2$, we have a stronger regularization than Proposition 4.1 since the solutions are globally bounded in space. This property, which will hold also for the equilibrium, will be particularly useful to get the polynomial decay of Theorem 4.

Proposition 4.2. Assume $\gamma \leq 2$. Let $f \in L^1(m)$ be a solution of the (FFP) equation as given in Theorem 1 with $m := \langle x \rangle^k$ with $2k \in (0, (\alpha \wedge 1))$ or $0 \leq k < \alpha \leq 1$. Then the following inequality holds

(39)
$$||f||_{L^{\infty}(m)} \lesssim \left(C + t^{\frac{-d}{\alpha}}\right) e^{\frac{t}{2}(\lambda_1^* + \lambda_1)} ||f^{\text{in}}||_{L^1(m)}$$

where λ_1 is the growth bound of $e^{t\Lambda}$ in $L^1(m)$, λ_1^* the growth bound of $e^{t\Lambda^*}$ and $C \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proof of Proposition 4.2. Since $\gamma \leq 2$, then Theorem 1 and the inequalities (23) or (24) hold in $L^p(m)$ for all $p \in [1, 2]$ and Proposition 4.1 holds for p = 2. It implies

(40)
$$\|e^{t\Lambda}\|_{L^1(m)\to L^2(m)} \lesssim t^{\frac{-d}{2\alpha}} e^{t\lambda_1}.$$

Moreover, for g solution of the dual equation $\partial_t g = \Lambda^* g := I(g) - E \cdot \nabla g$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} -(E \cdot \nabla g)g^{p-1}m^{-p} = \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g|^p \operatorname{div}(Em^{-p})$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g|^p m^{-p} \left(\frac{\operatorname{div}(E)}{p} - E \cdot \frac{\nabla m}{m}\right)$$
$$\leq \frac{\|\operatorname{div}(E)\|_{L^{\infty}}}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g|^p m^{-p},$$

by combining with formula (27) that still holds, we obtain the estimate

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g|^p m^{-p} \right) = - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(gm^{-1}) + \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g|^p m^{-p} \left(C_k + \frac{\|\operatorname{div}(E)\|_{L^{\infty}}}{p} \right).$$

Which is the equivalent of (23) for the dual equation in $L^p(m^{-1})$. With the same proof, we get that Theorem 1 and Proposition 4.1 also hold in $L^p(m^{-1})$ for $p \in [1, 2]$, from what we deduce

(41)
$$\|e^{t\Lambda^*}\|_{L^1(m^{-1})\to L^2(m^{-1})} \lesssim (c+t^{\frac{-d}{2\alpha}})e^{t\Lambda_1^*},$$

L. LAFLECHE

where λ_1^* is the growth bound of $e^{t\Lambda^*}$ in $L^1(m^{-1})$. Since the dual of $L^1(m^{-1})$ and $L^2(m^{-1})$ can be identified with $L^{\infty}(m)$ and $L^2(m)$, we deduce from (41) that

$$\|e^{t\Lambda}\|_{L^2(m)\to L^\infty(m)} \lesssim \left(c+t^{\frac{-d}{2\alpha}}\right)e^{t\lambda_1^*}.$$

And combining with (40), by writing $e^{t\Lambda} = e^{\frac{t}{2}\Lambda}e^{\frac{t}{2}\Lambda}$, we end up with

$$\|e^{t\Lambda}\|_{L^1(m)\to L^\infty(m)} \lesssim \left(C+t^{\frac{-d}{\alpha}}\right)e^{\frac{t}{2}(\lambda_1^*+\lambda_1)},$$

which ends the proof.

4.3. Gain of positivity. We prove in this section the gain and the propagation of strict positivity. It will be useful to prove the uniqueness of the steady state and also, as explained in Proposition 7.1, to get asymptotic estimates when we are not able to prove that the steady state is bounded and use Poincaré inequality. The first proposition is the classical maximum principle.

Proposition 4.3 (Weak Parabolic Maximum Principle). Assume that the conditions of Proposition 2.3 are satisfied and let $f \in L^p(\mathbb{R}_+, L^p(m\langle x \rangle^{(\gamma-2)_+/p}))$ be such that

$$\circ (\partial_t - \Lambda) f \ge 0,$$

$$\circ f(0, \cdot) = f^{\text{in}} \ge 0.$$

Then $f \geq 0$.

Proof of Proposition 4.3. Let $g \in L^p(m\langle x \rangle^{(\gamma-2)_+/p})$, $g_- := (-g)_+$ its negative part and $\Phi(g) := g_+^p$. We remark that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(g) \Phi'(g) m^p \leq p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(g_+) g_+^{p-1} m^p,$$

because, as $(g_-)(g_+) = 0$, we have

$$-\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} I(g_-)g_+^{p-1}m^p = -\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**}((g_-)_* - g_-)g_+^{p-1}m^p$$
$$= -\iint_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \kappa_{\alpha,**}(g_-)_*(g_+^{p-1})m^p \leq 0.$$

Thus, if g is such that $\partial_t g \leq \Lambda g$, we get

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g_+|^p m^p \right) \leq p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (\Lambda g) g_+^{p-1} m^p \leq p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Lambda(g_+) g_+^{p-1} m^p.$$

Using the a priori estimates (23) or (24), we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g_+|^p m^p \leq e^{\lambda t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |g_+^{\mathrm{in}}|^p m^p.$$

We conclude by taking f = -g and remarking that $f_{-}^{\text{in}} = 0 \implies f_{-} = 0$.

The second proposition claims that the solutions to the (FFP) equations are actually bounded by below by a strictly positive function as soon as they have positive mass in a compact set. It implies in particular the strong maximum principle.

Proposition 4.4. Let f be a solution to the (FFP) equation with initial condition $f^{\text{in}} \in L^1_+ \cap L^p(m)$. Then for any $a > d + \alpha + \gamma - 2$ and R > 0 sufficiently large, there exists an increasing function $\psi_R \in C^0 \cap L^\infty(\mathbb{R}^*_+, \mathbb{R}^*_+)$ such that

$$f(t,x) \geq \frac{\psi_R(t)}{\langle x \rangle^a} \int_{B_R} f^{\mathrm{in}},$$

where B_R denotes the ball of size R.

For a given r > 0, we define $\chi := \mathbb{1}_{B_r}$, $\chi^c := 1 - \chi$, $\kappa^c := \kappa_\alpha \chi^c + \kappa_\alpha (r)\chi = \min(\kappa_\alpha, \kappa_\alpha(r))$ and $\kappa := \kappa_\alpha - \kappa^c \ge 0$. As $\kappa^c \in L^1$, we will denote by $K^c := \|\kappa^c\|_{L^1}$ and will decompose I into

$$I_{c}(u) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \kappa_{**}^{c} (u_{*} - u) = \kappa^{c} * u - K^{c} u$$

$$I_{\chi}(u) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \kappa_{**} (u_{*} - u) = \int_{|x-y| < r} \kappa(x-y)(u(y) - u(x)) \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

Then we define the splitting

$$\Lambda = A + B,$$

where

$$Au = \kappa^c * u$$
 and $B = (I_{\chi} + \operatorname{div}(E \cdot) - K^c)$

Since the second operator still generates a positive semigroup, the strategy is to use the following Duhamel's formula (see e.g. [1])

$$e^{t\Lambda} = e^{tB} + e^{t\Lambda} \star A e^{tB}.$$

where we defined the time convolution of two operators by

$$U \star V : t \mapsto \int_0^t U(t-s)V(s) \,\mathrm{d}s,$$

and to prove that A gives a gain of positivity while $e^{t\Lambda}$ propagates the lower bound. These properties are given in the following lemmas. We will need the following bound by below

Lemma 4.3 (Bound by below for I(m)). Let $m(x) := \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k < \alpha$. Then $I(m) \geq C_k \langle x \rangle^{-(d+\alpha)} - \tilde{C}_k m.$

Proof of Proposition 4.3. We use the above splitting of the fractional Laplacian into $I = I_{\chi} + I_c$ for $\chi = \mathbb{1}_{B_1}$. We first deal with $I_{\chi}(m)$ and remark that

(42)
$$I_{\chi}(u) := \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \kappa_{**} \left(u_* - u - (x_* - x) \cdot \nabla u \right)$$

By a second order Taylor approximation, for $z \in B_1$, we obtain

$$|m(x+z) - m(x) - z \cdot \nabla m(x)| \leq \frac{|z|^2}{2} \|\nabla^2 m\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1(x))}.$$

Thus, by the change of variable $z = x - x_*$ in (42), we can write

$$|I_{\chi}(m)| \leq \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla^{2}m\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1}(x))} \int_{|z|<1} \frac{\chi(z) \, \mathrm{d}z}{|z|^{d+\alpha-2}} \\ \leq \frac{\omega_{d}}{2(2-\alpha)} \|\chi\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\nabla^{2}m\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{1}(x))}.$$

In particular, since $m = \langle x \rangle^k$, we have

$$\|\nabla^2 m\|_{L^{\infty}(B_1(x))} \leq \sup_{|z| < R} |k(|k|+3)\langle x+z \rangle^{k-2}|.$$

Peetre's inequality tells that for all $(x, z) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$, we have

$$\langle x+z\rangle^{k-2} \leq \sqrt{2}^{|k-2|} \langle x\rangle^{|k-2|} \langle z\rangle^{|k-2|}.$$

Since $\langle z \rangle \leq \langle 1 \rangle$, we obtain

(43)
$$|I_{\chi}(m)| \leq C_k \langle x \rangle^{k-2}$$

Now deal with the second part. Since $I_c(m) = \kappa^c * m - K^c m$, we just have to remark that

$$\kappa^{c} * m \geq \kappa^{c} * (m(1)\mathbb{1}_{B_{1}}) \geq \frac{C}{(|x|+1)^{d+\alpha}}.$$

Then, by combining with (43), we obtain

$$I(m) \geq \frac{C}{(|x|+1)^{d+\alpha}} - \left(K^c + \frac{C_k}{\langle x \rangle^2}\right)m.$$

what gives the result.

Lemma 4.4 (Propagation of positivity). Let $f \in L^p((0,T), L^p(m\langle x \rangle^{(\gamma-2)_+/p}))$ be a solution to the (FFP) equation such that $f^{\text{in}} > \frac{1}{\langle x \rangle^a}$ with $a > d + \alpha + \gamma - 2$. Then there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that

(44)
$$f(t,x) \geq \frac{e^{-\lambda t}}{\langle x \rangle^a}$$

Proof of Lemma 4.4. Let $\beta := \gamma - 2$. We prove that for λ large enough, $g(t, x) := \mathfrak{m}(x)\psi(t)$ with $\psi(t) = e^{-\lambda t}$ and $\mathfrak{m}(x) = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k < -(d + \alpha + \beta)$ is a subsolution. By Lemma 4.3, we have, indeed

$$I(\mathfrak{m}) \geq \left(C_k \langle x \rangle^{-(d+\alpha+k)} + \tilde{C}_k \right) \mathfrak{m}.$$

We deduce

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Lambda)g &= -\lambda g - I(\mathfrak{m})\psi(t) - \operatorname{div}(E\mathfrak{m})\psi(t) \\ &\leq \left(-\lambda - C_k \langle x \rangle^{-(d+\alpha+k)} + \tilde{C}_k - \operatorname{div}(E) - E\frac{\nabla \mathfrak{m}}{\mathfrak{m}}\right)g \\ &\leq \left(\tilde{C}_k - \lambda - C_k \langle x \rangle^{\beta+\varepsilon} + C \langle x \rangle^{\beta}\right)g, \end{aligned}$$

where $\varepsilon := -(k+d+\alpha+\beta) > 0$. Therefore, by taking λ sufficiently large we obtain $(\partial_t - \Lambda)g \leq 0$, i.e. g is a subsolution to the equation. As $g \in L^p_{t,x}(\langle x \rangle^{\alpha+\beta+/p})$, we can apply the weak parabolic maximum principle, Proposition 4.3, to f - g and we get that $f \geq g$.

Lemma 4.5 (Creation of positivity). For $u \in L^1_+$ the following lower bound holds

(45)
$$\kappa^c * u \geq \frac{C}{\langle x \rangle^{d+\alpha}} \int_{B_R} u,$$

where $C = (\sqrt{2} \max(r, R, 1))^{-(d+\alpha)}$.

_	-	٦	

Proof of Lemma 4.5. If $y \in B_R$, then $|x - y| \le |x| + R$. We deduce the following lower bound

$$\kappa^{c} * u(x) \geq \int_{|y| < R} \mathbb{1}_{|x-y| < r} \frac{u(y)}{|r|^{d+\alpha}} + \mathbb{1}_{|x-y| > r} \frac{u(y)}{(|x|+R)^{d+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

Let $r_1 := \max(r, R, 1)$. As $|x| + R \le |x| + r_1$ and $r \le |x| + r_1$, we get

$$\kappa^c * u(x) \ge \frac{1}{(|x|+r_1)^{d+\alpha}} \int_{|y|< R} u(y) \,\mathrm{d}y \ge \frac{C}{\langle x \rangle^{d+\alpha}} \int_{B_R} u,$$

where $C = (\sqrt{2}r_1)^{-(d+\alpha)}$.

Now we prove that e^{tB} propagates the fact to have a positive mass in a compact set.

Lemma 4.6. Let $u \in L^1(m)$ and R > 0. Then for all $\delta > 0$, there exists $\lambda_{\delta} > 0$ such that

(46)
$$\int_{B_{R+\delta}} e^{tB} u \geq e^{-\lambda_{\delta} t} \int_{B_R} u.$$

Proof of Lemma 4.6. Let $\eta_0 \in C_c^{\infty}$ be a radially decreasing function such that $\mathbb{1}_{B_{\bar{R}}} \leq \eta_0 \leq \mathbb{1}_{B_R}$ and $\eta_0 > 0$ on B_R . We also define for all t > 0, $\eta_t := e^{-\lambda t} \eta_0$ for a given $\lambda > 0$. By construction, this is a subsolution of $\partial_t + E \cdot \nabla$ since

$$\partial_t \eta + E \cdot \nabla \eta = -\lambda \eta - \left(E \cdot \frac{x}{|x|}\right) |\nabla \eta| \leq -\lambda \eta.$$

Our goal is to prove that for λ sufficiently large, we even better have $\partial_t \eta + E \cdot \nabla \eta - I_{\chi}(\eta) \leq 0$. Therefore, we look at the behaviour of $I_{\chi}(\eta)$ where $\chi = \mathbb{1}_{B_r}$. For |x| > R we have

$$I_{\chi}(\eta) = \int_{|x-y| < r} \frac{\eta(y)}{|x-y|^{d+\alpha}} \, \mathrm{d}y \ge \frac{1}{r^{d+\alpha}} \int_{B_{r}(x)} \eta \ge 0,$$

where $B_r(x)$ is the ball of center x and radius r. In particular, defining $j_R := I_{\chi}(\eta)(x)$ for |x| = R, we have $j_R > 0$. As $\eta \in C^{\infty}$, we easily deduce $I_{\chi}(\eta) \in C^{\infty}$ and the existence of $R' \in (\bar{R}, R)$ such that for all $|x| \in [R', R]$, $I_{\chi}(\eta) \ge j_R/2 > 0$. Therefore, we obtain the following cases

$$\begin{aligned} |x| > R' &\implies I_{\chi}(\eta) + \lambda \eta \ge \lambda \eta \ge 0 \\ |x| < R' &\implies I_{\chi}(\eta) + \lambda \eta \ge \lambda \eta(R') - \|I_{\chi}(\eta)\|_{L^{\infty}} \end{aligned}$$

and the latter is positive for λ sufficiently large. As $\eta \in C^{\infty}([0,T] \times B_R)$ all the estimates can easily be made uniform in time and we therefore obtain that

$$(\partial_t - B^*)\eta \leq 0$$

In particular, by application of the maximum principle (Proposition 4.3) we obtain that $e^{tB^*} \mathbb{1}_{B_R} \ge e^{tB^*} \eta_0 \ge \eta \ge e^{-\lambda t} \mathbb{1}_{B_R}$. By the dual definition of positivity, we obtain (46).

We can now prove the gain of positivity for the (FFP) equation.

Proof of Proposition 4.4. We combine (45) and (46) to get

$$Ae^{sB}f^{\mathrm{in}} \geq \frac{C_{R,\delta,\chi}e^{-\lambda_{\delta}s}}{\langle x \rangle^{d+\alpha}} \int_{B_R} f^{\mathrm{in}},$$

where $C = (2\sqrt{2})^{-(d+\alpha)}$. By propagation of the positivity (Lemma 4.4), for any $a > d + \alpha + \gamma - 2$,

$$e^{(t-s)\Lambda}Ae^{sB}f^{\mathrm{in}} \geq \frac{C_{R,\delta,\chi}e^{-\lambda(t-s)}e^{-\lambda_{\delta}s}}{\langle x \rangle^a} \int_{B_R} f^{\mathrm{in}}.$$

In conclusion, by integrating on $s \in [0,t]$ and using the fact that $e^{tB} \geq 0$ and that by Duhamel's formula

$$e^{t\Lambda} = e^{tB} + e^{t\Lambda}A \star e^{tB} \ge e^{t\Lambda}A \star e^{tB},$$

we obtain

$$e^{t\Lambda}f^{\mathrm{in}} \geq \frac{\psi(t)}{\langle x \rangle^a} \int_{B_R} f^{\mathrm{in}}$$

where $\psi(t) = C_{R,\delta,\chi} \frac{e^{-\lambda t} - e^{-\lambda_{\delta} t}}{\lambda - \lambda_{\delta}} \in C^0 \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^*_+, \mathbb{R}^*_+).$

5. EXISTENCE AND UNIQUENESS OF THE STEADY STATE

5.1. Splitting of Λ as a bounded and a dissipative part. This section uses a splitting of the operator Λ in a dissipative part in $B \in \mathscr{B}(L^1(m), L^p(m^{\theta}))$ and a bounded part $A \in \mathscr{B}(L^1, L^1(m))$ in order to bound uniformly in time the solution to the (FFP) equation and obtain the existence of a steady state. We define the new splitting as $\Lambda = A + B$ with

$$A := M\chi_R$$
 and $B := \Lambda - M\chi_R$,

where M > 0 is a large enough constant and $\mathbb{1}_{B_R} \leq \chi_R \leq \mathbb{1}_{B_{2R}}$ is a smooth cutoff function.

Proposition 5.1. Assume $\beta := \gamma - 2 > -\alpha$ and let $k \in (0, \alpha \land 1)$ and $p \in (1, p_{\gamma})$. Then there exists $\omega : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ such that

(47)
$$\|e^{tB}\|_{\mathscr{B}(L^p(m),L^p(m^{\theta}))} \lesssim \omega(t),$$

where

- if $\beta \ge 0$, then $\theta = 1$ and $\omega(t) = e^{-bt}$,
- if $\beta \in (-\alpha, 0)$, then θ is any number in (0, 1], $\omega(t) = \langle t \rangle^{-k(1-\theta)/|\beta|}$ and we require $p < \alpha/k$ if $k > \alpha + \beta$.

In particular, if $\beta > -\alpha$ and $p_{\gamma} \ge 1$, there exists (p, θ) such that $\omega \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$. Moreover, the gain of integrability also holds for B and writes

(48)
$$\|e^{tB}f\|_{\mathscr{B}(L^1(m),L^p(m))} \lesssim t^{-\frac{a}{q\alpha}},$$

where we recall that q = p'.

Proof of Proposition 5.1. By inequality (23), if $0 < kp < \alpha \land 1$, we have

$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \right) \leq \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \left(\frac{C_k}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha}} + \varphi_{m,p} - M\chi_R \right) - C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(fm).$$

Or, by inequality (24), we can also get for $k \in (0, \alpha)$,

$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \right) \leq \frac{1}{p} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \left(\frac{C_k}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha-k}} + \varphi_{m,p} - M\chi_R \right) - C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(fm).$$

From (8), for $p < p_{\gamma}$, we have $\varphi_{m,p} \leq b \mathbb{1}_{\Omega} - a \langle x \rangle^{\beta}$. Therefore, since $\beta > -\alpha$, if $kp < \alpha$ or $k < \alpha + \beta$, for M and R large enough, we obtain

(49)
$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \right) \leq -a \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \langle x \rangle^{kp+\beta} - C \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(fm),$$

with a > 0. In particular

(50)
$$\|e^{tB}\|_{\mathscr{B}(L^p(m))} \leq 1,$$

which proves inequality (47) for small times. If $\beta \geq 0$, since $m^p \leq \langle x \rangle^{kp+\beta}$, the result immediately follows be Grönwall's inequality. Assume now $\beta < 0$ and let $\varepsilon := pk(1-\theta) > 0$. By Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^{\theta p} \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \langle x \rangle^{\theta k p + \beta} \right)^{\varepsilon/(|\beta| + \varepsilon)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \right)^{|\beta|/(|\beta| + \varepsilon)}.$$

Combining it with (49) (where we replace k by θk) and (50) leads to

(51)
$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^{\theta p} \right) \leq -\bar{a} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^{\theta p} \right)^{1+|\beta|/\varepsilon} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f^{\mathrm{in}}|^p m^p \right)^{-|\beta|/\varepsilon}$$

By Grönwall's inequality, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^{\theta p} \lesssim \frac{1}{t^{\varepsilon/|\beta|}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f^{\mathrm{in}}|^p m^p.$$

It proves inequality (47) for large times. Moreover, using this time the second term of the right-hand side in (49) and following the same proof as in Proposition 4.1, we get

$$\|e^{tB}f\|_{\mathscr{B}(L^1(m),L^p(m))} \lesssim t^{-\frac{d}{q\alpha}}e^{t\lambda_1}$$

But using (50) for p = 1 proves that we can take $\lambda_1 = 1$. It concludes the proof. \Box

5.2. Existence of a unique steady state. With this dissipative estimate, the gain of integrability property of Proposition 4.1 and the properties of A, we obtain the following global in time estimates.

Proposition 5.2 (Global propagation of L^p norms). Assume $\gamma > 2-\alpha$ and let f be a solution of the (FFP) under the assumptions of Theorem 1 with $f^{\text{in}} \in L^1 \cap L^p(m^\theta)$. Then, if $\gamma \geq 2$ and $p < p_{\gamma}$ or if $\gamma \in (2 - \alpha, 2)$ and (p, k) is such that there exists $\theta \in (0, 1)$ such that Proposition 5.1 holds with $\omega \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\|e^{t\Lambda}f^{\rm in}\|_{L^p(m^{\theta})} \leq C\left(\|f^{\rm in}\|_{L^1} + \|f^{\rm in}\|_{L^p(m^{\theta})}\right).$$

Proof of Proposition 5.2. By noticing that $A \in \mathscr{B}(L^1, L^1(m))$, thanks to Proposition 5.1, we obtain the following sequence of estimates

$$L^{1} \xrightarrow[e^{t\Lambda}]{} L^{1} \xrightarrow[H]{} L^{1}(m) \xrightarrow[e^{tB/2}]{} L^{p}(m) \xrightarrow[e^{tB/2}]{} L^{p}(m^{\theta}),$$

where $\omega_2(t) = t^{-d/q\alpha}$ (which is integrable in 0 since $q > d/\alpha$) and we have indicated the linear operator under the arrow and the corresponding growth rate above the arrows. Hence, by remarking that $\omega\omega_2 \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ using the following Duhamel's Formula

$$e^{t\Lambda} = e^{tB} + e^{tB/2}e^{tB/2} \star Ae^{t\Lambda},$$

and the global boundedness of e^{tB} in $L^p(m^{\theta})$ given by (50), we deduce the announced result.

L. LAFLECHE

This proposition together with the positivity properties of the semigroup are sufficient to prove existence and uniqueness of the steady state.

Proof of Theorem 3. Since we have obtained a bound, uniform in time, in the weakly sequentially compact set $L^1_+ \cap L^p(m)$, a fixed-point argument allows us to claim the existence of a stationary state. Following the same proof as in [34, Lemma 3.6] or [24, Theorem 5.1], we obtain from the previous estimates the existence a stationary state $F \in L^1 \cap L^p(m)$ to the (FFP) equation.

Moreover, by the positivity results obtained in Proposition 4.4 and since $1 \in L^{p'}(m^{-1}) \cap L^{\infty}$ for $p < \frac{d}{d-k}$, we obtained the following facts

- There exists F ∈ L^p(m) ∩ L¹₊ such that ΛF = 0,
 Λ*1 = 0 and 1 ∈ (L^p(m) ∩ L¹)'₊,
- Λ satisfies the strong and the weak maximum principle.

As a consequence of the Krein-Rutman Theorem (see e.g. [32, Theorem 5.3]), we deduce the uniqueness of a stationary state $F \in L^p(m) \cap L^1_{\perp}$ of given mass $||F||_{L^1} = ||f^{\text{in}}||_{L^1}$. It finishes the proof of Theorem 3.

6. Polynomial Convergence to the equilibrium for $\gamma \in (2 - \alpha, 2)$

When $\gamma \in (2-\alpha, 2)$, the force field seems not confining enough to get exponential convergence since the derivatives of weighted Lebesgue norms let appear Lebesgue norms with smaller weights. Moreover, when $\gamma < 2 - \alpha$, the effect of the force field at infinity is dominated by the effect of the fractional Laplacian, which prevent us from proving any explicit convergence result with our method.

6.1. Generalized relative entropy. In this section, we make a remark about the fact that we can already easily prove a non-quantitative version of the convergence toward equilibrium by generalized entropy method. Assume that there exists a steady state F > 0 to the (FFP) equation and let f be a solution of the equation of mass 0. Then for h := f/F, by integration by parts, the following computation formally holds

$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |h|^p F \right) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (I(h^{p-1})h - hE \cdot \nabla h^{p-1})F.$$

Then, since by formula (16)

$$\mathfrak{D}_p(h) \simeq \frac{1}{q} I(|h|^p) - h I(h^{p-1}),$$

we get

$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |h|^p F \right) = \frac{1}{q} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (I(|h|^p) - ph^{p-1}E \cdot \nabla h)F - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(h)F \\
= \frac{1}{q} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} (I(|h|^p) - E \cdot \nabla |h|^p)F - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(h)F \\
= \frac{1}{q} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |h|^p (I(F) + \operatorname{div}(EF)) - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(h)F \\
= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(h)F.$$

Thus, we obtain

(52)
$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p F^{1-p} \right) \leq -p \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p \left(\frac{f}{F} \right) F.$$

Since $\mathfrak{D}_p(h) \geq 0$ and $\mathfrak{D}_p(h) = 0 \Leftrightarrow h$ is constant $\Leftrightarrow f = F$ (by conservation of the mass), it implies that $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |h|^p F$ is a strict Lyapunov functional, which implies the convergence to the equilibrium in $L^p(F^{-1/q})$ (see for example [28, Chapter 5] or [20]). However, we will prove that with other techniques we will get an explicit rate of convergence.

6.2. Fractional Poincaré-Wirtinger inequality. We prove in this section an inequality looking like a fractional Poincaré-Wirtinger inequality on a bounded set Ω , but for the *p*-dissipation \mathfrak{D}_p instead of a fractional gradient and for functions such that the mass is zero on the whole space (i.e. v such that $\langle v \rangle_{\mu} = 0$).

We define the diameter of Ω as diam $(\Omega) := \sup_{(x,y)\in\Omega^2}(|x-y|)$. Moreover, we introduce the following notation for the mass and the L^p norm of a function u for a measure μ ,

$$\langle u \rangle_{\mu,\Omega} := \frac{1}{\mu(\Omega)} \int_{\Omega} u\mu, \qquad \qquad \|u\|_{L^p_{\mu}(\Omega)}^p := \int_{\Omega} |u|^p \mu,$$

and we will use the shortcuts $\langle u \rangle_{\mu} := \langle u \rangle_{\mu,\mathbb{R}^d}$ and $\|u\|_{L^p_{\mu}}^p = \|u\|_{L^p_{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^d)}^p$.

Proposition 6.1. Let $\mu \in L^{\infty}_{loc} \cap L^{1}_{+}$. Then for all $v \in L^{p}_{\mu}$ such that $\langle v \rangle_{\mu} = 0$, for all $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{d}$ bounded, the following inequality holds

$$\int_{\Omega} |v|^{p} \mu \leq C_{\mathrm{PW}} \int_{\Omega} \mathfrak{D}_{p}(v) \mu + \varepsilon_{\Omega} \|v\|_{L^{p}_{\mu}(\Omega)}^{p-1} \|v\|_{L^{p}_{\mu}(\Omega^{c})}$$

where $C_{\mathrm{PW}} = \operatorname{diam}(\Omega)^{d+\alpha} \|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}$ and $\varepsilon_{\Omega} = \frac{\mu(\Omega^{c})}{\mu(\Omega)}$.

It is a consequence of a the following more natural inequality where we control only the distance to the local mass $\langle u \rangle_{\mu,\Omega}$.

Lemma 6.1. Let $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ be bounded and $\mu \in L^{\infty}_{+}(\Omega)$. Then for all $u \in L^p_{\mu}$,

$$0 \leq \int_{\Omega} u^{p-1} (u - \langle u \rangle_{\mu,\Omega}) \mu \leq C_{\mathrm{PW}} \int_{\Omega} \mathfrak{D}_p(u) \mu,$$

where $C_{\text{PW}} = \operatorname{diam}(\Omega)^{d+\alpha} \frac{\|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)}}{\mu(\Omega)}$.

Proof of Lemma 6.1. We normalize μ to have $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Omega)$ (space of probability measures). For all $u \in L^p_{\mu}(\Omega)$ the following identity hold

$$0 \leq \frac{1}{2} \iint_{\Omega^2} (u_* - u) (u_*^{p-1} - u^{p-1}) \mu_* \mu = \iint_{\Omega^2} u (u^{p-1} - u_*^{p-1}) \mu_* \mu$$
$$= \iint_{\Omega^2} u^{p-1} (u - u_*) \mu_* \mu$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} u^{p-1} (u - \langle u \rangle_{\mu,\Omega}) \mu.$$

Hence, using that $|x - y| < 2 \operatorname{diam}(\Omega)$, we get

$$\int_{\Omega} u^{p-1} (u - \langle u \rangle_{\mu,\Omega}) \mu = \iint_{\Omega^2} \frac{(u_* - u)(u_*^{p-1} - u^{p-1})}{2|x - x_*|^{d+\alpha}} |x - x_*|^{d+\alpha} \mu_* \mu$$

$$\leq \operatorname{diam}(\Omega)^{d+\alpha} \|\mu\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathfrak{D}_p(u) \mu.$$

It concludes the proof.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. Since $\langle v \rangle_{\mu} = 0$, we have

$$\int_{\Omega} |v|^{p} \mu = \int_{\Omega} v^{p-1} (v - \langle v \rangle_{\mu,\Omega}) \mu + \left(\int_{\Omega} v^{p-1} \mu \right) \frac{1}{\mu(\Omega)} \left(\int_{\Omega} v \mu \right)$$
$$= \int_{\Omega} v^{p-1} (v - \langle v \rangle_{\mu,\Omega}) \mu - \frac{1}{\mu(\Omega)} \left(\int_{\Omega} v^{p-1} \mu \right) \left(\int_{\Omega^{c}} v \mu \right)$$

and, by using Hölder's inequality, the second term can be bounded in the following way

$$\frac{1}{\mu(\Omega)} \left| \left(\int_{\Omega} v^{p-1} \mu \right) \left(\int_{\Omega^c} v \mu \right) \right| \leq \frac{1}{\mu(\Omega)} \|v\|_{L^p_{\mu}(\Omega)}^{p-1} \mu(\Omega)^{\frac{1}{p}} \|v\|_{L^p_{\mu}(\Omega^c)} \mu(\Omega^c)^{\frac{1}{q}}$$
$$\leq \varepsilon_{\Omega} \|v\|_{L^p_{\mu}(\Omega)}^{p-1} \|v\|_{L^p_{\mu}(\Omega^c)}.$$

We apply Lemma 6.1 to conclude.

6.3. Lyapunov + Poincaré method. The following proposition is nothing but the part of Theorem 4 concerning $\gamma \in (2 - \alpha, 2)$, leading to polynomial convergence. It is inspired from [2] where a Local Poincaré together with a Foster-Lyapunov condition are used in the case of the classical Laplacian to prove convergence in spaces of the form $L^2(F^{-1/2}M)$ where M is an exponential or polynomial weight. As this technique strongly uses the formula for gradient of the product of two functions, which is not available for the fractional Laplacian, we work in spaces of the form $L^p((\lambda F^{1-p} + m^p)^{1/p})$ instead, and we use the fact that F has polynomial decay at infinity.

Proposition 6.2. Assume $\beta := \gamma - 2 \in (-\alpha, 0)$. Let $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ and $\bar{m} = \langle x \rangle^{\bar{k}}$ with $|\beta| < k < \bar{k} < \alpha \land 1$ and $f \in L^p(\bar{m})$ be a solution to the (FFP) equation for $p < 1 + \frac{k - |\beta|}{d + \alpha - k}$, $p < p_{\gamma}$ and $p < \frac{\alpha}{k}$ if $k > \alpha - \beta$. Then, the following polynomial convergence holds

$$||f - F||_{L^p(m)} \lesssim \frac{1}{\langle t \rangle^{(\bar{k} - k)/|\beta|}} ||f^{\rm in} - F||_{L^p(\bar{m})}.$$

Proof of Proposition 6.2. By replacing f by f - F and by conservation of the mass, we can assume $\langle f \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d} = 0$. By Proposition 4.4, $F \gtrsim \frac{c}{\langle x \rangle^{d+\alpha}}$ and for $p \in (1, p_\alpha)$ with $p'_\alpha = \frac{d+\alpha}{k}$, we have $\varepsilon_0 := kp - (p-1)(d+\alpha) > 0$. Therefore, we have

(53)
$$F^{1-p} \lesssim \frac{m^p}{\langle x \rangle^{\varepsilon_0}},$$

and we deduce that $f \in L^p(F^{-1/q})$. Moreover $F \in L^1_+$ and $F \in L^\infty(m)$ from Proposition 4.2. Therefore, if $f \in L^p(F^{-1/q})$, by combining the fractional Poincaré-Wirtinger inequality (Proposition 6.1) with (52), we get for a given $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^d$ bounded

(54)
$$C_{\mathrm{PW}} \partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p F^{1-p} \right) \leq - \int_{\Omega} |f|^p F^{1-p} + \varepsilon_{\Omega} \|f\|_{L^p_{F^{1-p}}(\Omega)}^{p-1} \|f\|_{L^p_{F^{1-p}}(\Omega^c)}.$$

Moreover, from estimates (26) and (29), for $kp < \alpha$, we have

$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \left(\frac{C}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha}} + \varphi_{m,p} \right).$$

Or we can also use estimates (26) and (27) to deduce that for $k < \alpha$,

$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \left(\frac{C}{\langle x \rangle^{\alpha-k}} + \varphi_{m,p} \right).$$

From (8) and one of the two above estimates, if $kp < \alpha$ or $|\beta| < \alpha - k$, we get the Foster-Lyapunov like estimate

(55)
$$\frac{1}{p}\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \left(b\mathbb{1}_{\Omega} - a \langle x \rangle^{kp+\beta} \right),$$

for a given $(a, b) \in \mathbb{R}^2_+$. We define $M^p := m^p + \lambda C_{\mathrm{PW}} F^{1-p}$ in order to use the negative part of both estimates (54) and (55). Adding the two expressions, we obtain

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p M^p \right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \left((b - \lambda F^{1-p}) \mathbb{1}_{\Omega} + \lambda \varepsilon_{\Omega} F^{1-p} - a \langle x \rangle^{kp+\beta} \right).$$

Using the fact that $F \in L^{\infty}(m)$ and (53), we obtain the existence of c > 0 depending only on F such that

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p M^p \right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \left((b - \lambda c) \mathbb{1}_{\Omega} + \langle x \rangle^{kp} \left(\lambda \varepsilon_{\Omega} c \langle x \rangle^{-\varepsilon_0} - a \langle x \rangle^{-|\beta|} \right) \right).$$

Now we remark that since $|\beta| < k$, for $p < \frac{d+\alpha-|\beta|}{d+\alpha-k} = 1 + \frac{k-|\beta|}{d+\alpha-k}$, we obtain $-\varepsilon_0 < \beta$. Taking also $\lambda > \frac{b}{c}$, we get

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p M^p \right) \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \langle x \rangle^{kp+\beta} \left(\lambda \varepsilon_{\Omega} c - a \right).$$

Thus, by taking Ω large enough so that $\lambda \varepsilon_{\Omega} c - a < 0$, we obtain the existence of $\bar{a} > 0$ such that

(56)
$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p M^p \right) \leq -\bar{a} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \langle x \rangle^{kp+\beta}.$$

Let $\bar{k} \in (k, \alpha)$ and $\varepsilon := p(\bar{k} - k) > 0$. By Hölder's inequality, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \langle x \rangle^{kp} \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \langle x \rangle^{kp+\beta} \right)^{\varepsilon/(|\beta|+\varepsilon)} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p \langle x \rangle^{\bar{k}p} \right)^{|\beta|/(|\beta|+\varepsilon)}$$

Combining it with (56) and Proposition 5.2 leads to

$$\partial_t \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p M^p \right) \lesssim -\bar{a} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p M^p \right)^{1+|\beta|/\varepsilon} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f^{\mathrm{in}}|^p \langle x \rangle^{\bar{k}p} \right)^{-|\beta|/\varepsilon}$$

where we used that by (53) and the positivity of F, we have $\langle x \rangle^{kp} \leq M^p \lesssim \langle x \rangle^{kp}$. By Grönwall's inequality, we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p m^p \leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f|^p M^p \lesssim \frac{1}{t^{\varepsilon/|\beta|}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f^{\mathrm{in}}|^p \langle x \rangle^{\bar{k}p},$$

which gives the expected result.

L. LAFLECHE

7. Exponential Convergence to the equilibrium for $\gamma \geq 2$

When $\gamma \geq 2$, the confinement is sufficiently strong to get an exponential time decay toward equilibrium for |x| large. To get the local behavior, instead of using a local Poincaré inequality as in previous section, we will use the gain of positivity from Proposition 4.4.

Proposition 7.1 (Convergence in $L^1(m)$). Assume $\gamma \geq 2$ and let f be a solution of the (FFP) equation with $f^{\text{in}} \in L^1(m)$. Then, there exists $\bar{a} > 0$ such that for any $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$

$$||f(t) - F||_{L^1(m)} \leq e^{-\bar{a}t} ||f^{\text{in}} - F||_{L^1(m)}.$$

Proof of Proposition 7.1. We want here to use the strategy from Hairer and Mattingly in [18] so that we use the following notations $P_t := e^{t\Lambda^*}$, $X := L^1(m)$ and $X' = L^{\infty}(m^{-1})$ where $m = \langle x \rangle^k$ with $k \in (0, \alpha \wedge 1)$. We recall that from Theorem 1 we immediately deduce by duality that $P : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathscr{B}(X')$ is a positive C^0 -semigroup such that $P_t = 1$. The strategy consists in proving the following Lyapunov and positivity conditions.

Step 1. Lyapunov condition. Since $E \cdot x \gtrsim |x|^2$, by Proposition 2.2, we have

$$\Lambda^* m = I(m) - E \cdot \nabla m \leq b - am.$$

Moreover, by using Duhamel's formula, we have

$$e^{(\Lambda^*+a)t} = m + e^{(\Lambda^*+a)t} \star (\Lambda^*+a)m.$$

Therefore, we obtain

$$e^{at}P_tm \leq m + \int_0^t e^{as}P_sb\,\mathrm{d}s \leq m + be^{at}/a,$$

from what we deduce

$$(57) P_t m \leq \gamma_t m + c,$$

with c = b/a and $\gamma_t = e^{-at} \in (0, 1)$.

Step 2. Positivity condition. From Proposition 4.4, we know that there exists $\nu_t(x) = \nu(t, x) \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+, L^1_+(m))$ strictly positive such that for any $f \in L^1_+(m)$, we have

$$e^{t\Lambda}f \geq \nu_t \int_{B_R} f.$$

By duality, it implies that

(58)
$$P_t \ge \langle \nu_t, \cdot \rangle \mathbb{1}_{m(x) < r}.$$

where r = m(R).

Step 3. Convergence in $L^1(m)$. We define $m_{\lambda} := 1 + \lambda m$ and the following seminorm on $L^{\infty}(m^{-1})$

$$|\varphi|_{\dot{L}^{\infty}(m_{\lambda}^{-1})} := \sup_{(x,y)\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left(\frac{|\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)|}{m_{\lambda}(x) + m_{\lambda}(y)} \right).$$

Then as proved in [18, Lemma 2.1], we have

(59)
$$|\varphi|_{\dot{L}^{\infty}(m_{\lambda}^{-1})} = \inf_{c \in \mathbb{R}} \|\varphi - c\|_{L^{\infty}(m_{\lambda}^{-1})}.$$

Moreover, [18, Theorem 3.1] tells us that since (57) and (58) imply that for any fixed time t > 0 there exists a constant $\bar{\gamma}_t \in (0, 1)$ such that

(60)
$$|P_t\varphi|_{\dot{L}^{\infty}(m_{\lambda}^{-1})} \leq \bar{\gamma}_t |\varphi|_{\dot{L}^{\infty}(m_{\lambda}^{-1})}$$

By using the semigroup property, we obtain that the optimal $\bar{a}_t := -\ln(\bar{\gamma}_t) > 0$ verifies $\bar{a}_{t+s} \ge \bar{a}_t + \bar{a}_s$, from what we deduce the existence of $\bar{a} > 0$ such that

$$\inf_{c\in\mathbb{R}} \|P_t\varphi - c\|_{X'} \leq e^{-\bar{a}t} \|\varphi\|_{X'},$$

where we replaced $L^{\infty}(m_{\lambda}^{-1})$ by X' by equivalence of the norms. Take a sequence $(c_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ converging to the minimizer. Then, we can write for $f^{\text{in}} \in L^1(m)$ such that $\langle f^{\text{in}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d} = 0$

$$\langle e^{t\Lambda} f^{\mathrm{in}}, \varphi \rangle_{X,X'} = \langle f^{\mathrm{in}}, P_t \varphi - c_n \rangle_{X,X'} \leq \| f^{\mathrm{in}} \|_{L^1(m)} \| P_t \varphi - c_n \|_{X'}.$$

Passing to the limit $n \to \infty$, for $f(t) := e^{t\Lambda} f^{\text{in}}$, we get

$$||f||_{L^{1}(m)} = \sup_{\|\varphi\|_{X'} \le 1} \langle f, \varphi \rangle_{X, X'} \le e^{-\bar{a}t} ||f^{\mathrm{in}}||_{L^{1}(m)}.$$

Proposition 7.1 follows by taking f - F instead of f.

Proof of Theorem 4. The part concerning polynomial convergence when $\alpha \in (2 - \alpha, 2)$ was proved in Proposition 6.2. Therefore we just have to prove the part concerning exponential convergence when $\alpha \geq 2$. Thanks to the regularization property of the semigroup from $L^1(m)$ to $L^p(m)$ as proved in Proposition 4.1, we know that

$$||f - F||_{L^p(m)} \lesssim \left(c + t^{-\frac{d}{q\alpha}}\right) e^{t\lambda_1} ||f^{\text{in}} - F||_{L^1(m)}.$$

where λ_1 is exactly such that

$$||f - F||_{L^1(m)} \lesssim e^{t\lambda_1} ||f^{\text{in}} - F||_{L^1(m)}.$$

From Proposition 7.1, we deduce that $\lambda_1 = -\bar{a} < 0$, which gives the result.

References

- W. Arendt, A. Grabosch, G. Greiner, U. Moustakas, R. Nagel, U. Schlotterbeck, U. Groh, H. P. Lotz, and F. Neubrander. *One-parameter Semigroups of Positive Operators*, volume 1184 of *Lecture Notes in Mathematics*. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1986.
- [2] D. Bakry, P. Cattiaux, and A. Guillin. Rate of convergence for ergodic continuous Markov processes: Lyapunov versus Poincaré. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 254(3):727–759, 2008.
- [3] P. Biler and G. Karch. Generalized Fokker-Planck equations and convergence to their equilibria. Banach Center Publications, 60:307–318, 2003.
- [4] P. Biler, G. Karch, and W. A. Woyczyński. Asymptotics for conservation laws involving Lévy diffusion generators. *Studia Mathematica*, 148:171–192, 2001.
- [5] H. Brezis. Analyse fonctionnelle : Théorie et applications. Sciences Sup. Dunod, Paris, nouvelle présentation 2005 edition, 2005.
- [6] S. Campanato. Proprietà di hölderianità di alcune classi di funzioni. Annali della Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa - Classe di Scienze, 17(1-2):175–188, 1963.
- [7] J. Cañizo, A. Einav, and B. Lods. On the rate of convergence to equilibrium for the linear boltzmann equation with soft potentials. arXiv:1705.01309 [math], May 2017. arXiv: 1705.01309.
- [8] J. A. Cañizo and B. Lods. Exponential trend to equilibrium for the inelastic Boltzmann equation driven by a particle bath. *Nonlinearity*, 29(5):1687, 2016.

L. LAFLECHE

- D. Chamorro and S. Menozzi. Fractional operators with singular drift: smoothing properties and Morrey-Campanato spaces. *Revista Matemática Iberoamericana*, 32(4):1445–1499, Dec. 2016.
- [10] L. Desvillettes and B. Wennberg. Smoothness of the Solution of the Spatially Homogeneous Boltzmann Equation without Cutoff. *Communications in Partial Differential Equations*, 29(1-2):133–155, Jan. 2005.
- [11] E. Di Nezza, G. Palatucci, and E. Valdinoci. Hitchhiker's guide to the fractional Sobolev spaces. Bulletin des Sciences Mathématiques, 136(5):521–573, July 2012.
- [12] R. DiPerna and P. Lions. Ordinary differential equations, transport theory and Sobolev spaces. *Inventiones mathematicae*, 98(3):511–547, Oct. 1989.
- [13] A. Eberle, A. Guillin, and R. Zimmer. Quantitative Harris type theorems for diffusions and McKean-Vlasov processes. arXiv:1606.06012 [math], June 2016. arXiv: 1606.06012.
- [14] K.-J. Engel and R. Nagel. One-Parameter Semigroups for Linear Evolution Equations. Springer, New York, NY, Oct. 1999.
- [15] I. Gentil and C. Imbert. The Lévy-Fokker-Planck equation: Phi-entropies and convergence to equilibrium. Asymptotic Analysis, 59(3-4):125–138, 2008.
- [16] I. Gentil and C. Imbert. Logarithmic Sobolev inequalities: regularizing effect of Lévy operators and asymptotic convergence in the Lévy-Fokker-Planck equation. Stochastics. An International Journal of Probability and Stochastic Processes, 81(3-4):401-414, 2009.
- [17] M. P. Gualdani, S. Mischler, and C. Mouhot. Factorization for non-symmetric operators and exponential H-theorem. arXiv:1006.5523 [math], Nov. 2013. To appear as a Mémoire de la Société Mathématique de France.
- [18] M. Hairer and J. C. Mattingly. Yet Another Look at Harris' Ergodic Theorem for Markov Chains. In Seminar on Stochastic Analysis, Random Fields and Applications VI, Progress in Probability, pages 109–117. Springer, Basel, 2011. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-0348-0021-1_7.
- [19] M. Hairer, J. C. Mattingly, and M. Scheutzow. Asymptotic coupling and a general form of Harris' theorem with applications to stochastic delay equations. *Probability Theory and Related Fields*, 149(1-2):223–259, Feb. 2011.
- [20] A. Haraux. Systèmes dynamiques dissipatifs et applications. Dunod, Paris, 1997.
- [21] F. Hérau, D. Tonon, and I. Tristani. Short Time Diffusion Properties of Inhomogeneous Kinetic Equations with Fractional Collision Kernel. Sept. 2017.
- [22] C. Imbert and L. Silvestre. Weak Harnack inequality for the Boltzmann equation without cut-off. arXiv:1608.07571 [math], Aug. 2016. arXiv: 1608.07571.
- [23] B. Jourdain, S. Méléard, and W. Woyczynski. Nonlinear SDEs driven by Lévy processes and related PDEs. ALEA. Latin American Journal of Probability and Mathematical Statistics, 4:1–29, 2008.
- [24] O. Kavian and S. Mischler. The Fokker-Planck Equation with Subcritical Confinement Force. arXiv:1512.07005 [math], Dec. 2015. arXiv: 1512.07005.
- [25] N. S. Landkof. Foundations of Modern Potential Theory. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften in Einzeldarstellungen mit besonderer Berucksichtigung der Anwendungsgebiete, Bd. 180. Springer-Verlag, 1972.
- [26] V. Maz'ya. Sobolev Spaces, volume 342 of Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2011.
- [27] S. P. Meyn and R. L. Tweedie. Stability of Markovian Processes III: Foster-Lyapunov Criteria for Continuous-Time Processes. Advances in Applied Probability, 25(3):518–548, 1993.
- [28] S. Mischler. An introduction to evolution PDEs. Course notes, University Paris-Dauphine, Paris, 2015.
- [29] S. Mischler and C. Mouhot. Stability, Convergence to Self-Similarity and Elastic Limit for the Boltzmann Equation for Inelastic Hard Spheres. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 288(2):431–502, June 2009.
- [30] S. Mischler and C. Mouhot. Stability, convergence to the steady state and elastic limit for the Boltzmann equation for diffusively excited granular media. *Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems. Series A*, 24(1):159–185, 2009.
- [31] S. Mischler and C. Mouhot. Exponential stability of slowly decaying solutions to the kinetic Fokker-Planck equation. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 221(2):677–723, 2016.
- [32] S. Mischler and J. Scher. Spectral analysis of semigroups and growth-fragmentation equations. arXiv:1310.7773 [math], Oct. 2013. arXiv: 1310.7773.

FRACTIONAL FOKKER-PLANCK EQUATION WITH GENERAL CONFINEMENT FORCE31

- [33] S. Mischler and I. Tristani. Uniform semigroup spectral analysis of the discrete, fractional and classical Fokker-Planck equations. *Journal de l'École polytechnique. Mathématiques*, 4:389– 433, 2017.
- [34] S. Mischler and Q. Weng. On a linear runs and tumbles equation. *Kinetic and Related Models*, 10(3):799–822, 2017.
- [35] C. Mouhot. Rate of Convergence to Equilibrium for the Spatially Homogeneous Boltzmann Equation with Hard Potentials. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 261(3):629–672, 2006.
- [36] J. Nash. Continuity of Solutions of Parabolic and Elliptic Equations. American Journal of Mathematics, 80(4):931–954, 1958.
- [37] R. W. Schwab and L. Silvestre. Regularity for parabolic integro-differential equations with very irregular kernels. Analysis & PDE, 9(3):727–772, 2016.
- [38] L. Silvestre. Holder estimates for advection fractional-diffusion equations. arXiv preprint arXiv:1009.5723, 2010.
- [39] L. Silvestre. On the differentiability of the solution to an equation with drift and fractional diffusion. Indiana University Mathematics Journal, pages 557–584, 2012.
- [40] L. Silvestre. A new regularization mechanism for the Boltzmann equation without cut-off. Communications in Mathematical Physics, 348(1):69–100, 2016.
- [41] L. Silvestre, V. Vicol, and A. Zlatos. On the loss of continuity for super-critical driftdiffusion equations. Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 207(3):845–877, 2013. arXiv: 1205.4364.
- [42] L. E. Silvestre. Regularity of the obstacle problem for a fractional power of the laplace operator. Thesis, The University of Texas at Austin, Austin, Texas, 2005.
- [43] H. Triebel. Theory of Function Spaces II. Springer Basel, Basel, 1992.
- [44] H. Triebel. Theory of Function Spaces. Springer Science & Business Media, Basel, 2010.
- [45] I. Tristani. Fractional Fokker-Planck equation. Communications in Mathematical Sciences, 13(5):1243–1260, 2015.
- [46] I. Tristani. Boltzmann equation for granular media with thermal force in a weakly inhomogeneous setting. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 270(5):1922–1970, 2016.
- [47] F.-Y. Wang. Phi-entropy inequality and application for SDEs with jumps. Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, 418(2):861–873, Oct. 2014.
- [48] J. Wei and R. Tian. Well-posedness for the fractional Fokker-Planck equations. Journal of Mathematical Physics, 56(3):031502, Mar. 2015.

LAURENT LAFLECHE

UNIVERSITÉ PARIS-DAUPHINE, PSL RESEARCH UNIVERSITY CEREMADE, UMR CNRS 7534 PLACE DU MARÉCHAL DE LATTRE DE TASSIGNY 75775 PARIS CEDEX 16 FRANCE

E-MAIL: lafleche@ceremade.dauphine.fr